

Report to the Honorable Mark Warner U.S. Senate

PUBLIC COMPANIES

Disclosure of Environmental, Social, and Governance Factors and Options to Enhance Them

Accessible Version

July 2020

GAO Highlights

Highlights of GAO-20-530, a report to the Honorable Mark Warner, U.S. Senate

Why GAO Did This Study

Investors are increasingly asking public companies to disclose information on ESG factors to help them understand risks to the company's financial performance or other issues, such as the impact of the company's business on communities. The Securities and Exchange Commission requires public companies to disclose material information—which can include material ESG information—in their annual 10-K filings and other periodic filings.

GAO was asked to review issues related to public companies' disclosures of ESG information. This report examines, among other things, (1) why investors seek ESG disclosures, (2) public companies' disclosures of ESG factors, and (3) the advantages and disadvantages of ESG disclosure policy options.

GAO analyzed 32 large and mid-sized public companies' disclosures on 33 selected ESG topics. Among other criteria, GAO selected companies within eight industries that represented a range of sectors in the U.S. economy and selected ESG factors that were frequently cited as important to investors by market observers. GAO also reviewed reports and studies on ESG policy proposals and interviewed 14 large and mid-sized institutional investors (seven private-sector asset management firms and seven public pension funds), 18 public companies, 13 market observers (such as ESG standard-setting organizations, academics, and other groups), and international government, stock exchange, and industry association representatives.

View GAO-20-530. For more information, contact Michael Clements at (202) 512-8678 or Clements M@gao.gov.

PUBLIC COMPANIES

Disclosure of Environmental, Social, and Governance Factors and Options to Enhance Them

What GAO Found

Most institutional investors GAO interviewed (12 of 14) said they seek information on environmental, social, and governance (ESG) issues to better understand risks that could affect company financial performance over time. These investors added that they use ESG disclosures to monitor companies' management of ESG risks, inform their vote at shareholder meetings, or make stock purchasing decisions. Most of these institutional investors noted that they seek additional ESG disclosures to address gaps and inconsistencies in companies' disclosures that limit their usefulness.

GAO's review of annual reports, 10-K filings, proxy statements, and voluntary sustainability reports for 32 companies identified disclosures across many ESG topics but also found examples of limitations noted by investors. Twenty-three of 32 companies disclosed on more than half of the 33 topics GAO reviewed, with board accountability and workforce diversity among the most reported topics and human rights the least. Disclosure on an ESG topic may depend on its relevance to a company's business. As shown in the figure, most companies provided information related to ESG risks or opportunities that was specific to the company, though some did not include this type of company-specific information.

The Four Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Disclosure Topics GAO Reviewed with the Most and Least Company-Specific Disclosures, Generally Covering Data from 2018





Source: GAO analysis of company disclosures. | GAO-20-530

Note: GAO review ed 32 companies' 10-Ks, proxy statements, annual reports, and voluntary sustainability reports (generally with data from 2018, and some with data from 2017 and 2019).

Additionally, differences in methods and measures companies used to disclose quantitative information may make it difficult to compare across companies. For example, companies differed in their reporting of carbon dioxide emissions.

Policy options to improve the quality and usefulness of ESG disclosures range from legislative or regulatory action requiring or encouraging disclosures, to private-sector approaches, such as using industry-developed frameworks. These options pose important trade-offs. For example, while new regulatory requirements could improve comparability across companies, voluntary approaches can provide flexibility to companies and limit potential costs.

Contents

Letter		1
	Background	5
	Most Large Investors Told Us They Sought Additional ESG Disclosures to Better Understand and Compare Companies' Risks	9
	Selected Companies Generally Disclosed Many ESG Topics but Lack of Detail and Consistency May Reduce Usefulness to Investors	17
	SEC Primarily Uses a Principles-Based Approach for Overseeing ESG Information and Has Taken Some Steps to Assess ESG Disclosures	33
	Policy Options to Enhance ESG Disclosures Range from Regulatory Actions to Private-Sector Approaches Agency Comments	38 45
Appendix I: Objectives, Scope, an	d Methodology	47
Appendix II: Comments from the S	Securities and Exchange Commission	56
Appendix III: GAO Contact and St	aff Acknowledgments	59
	GAO Contact Staff Acknowledgments	59 59
Appendix IV: Accessible Data		60
	Data Tables Agency Comment Letter	60 64

Tables

Table 1: Examples of Environmental, Social, and Governance Factors	F
Factors	5
Table 2: Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Standard-	
Setting Organizations and Voluntary Reporting	
Frameworks	6
	•

 Table 3: Shareholder Proposals Submitted to 100 Sampled Companies Requesting Additional Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Disclosures, 2019 Table 4: Stratified Random Sample of Companies for Review of Shareholder Proposals 	15 49
Figure 1: Selected Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Factors and Topics for Our Review of Public Companies' ESG Disclosures	20
Figure 2: Number of Companies for Which Our Review Identified Disclosure on Certain Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Factors and Topics, Generally	
Covering Data from 2018 Figure 3: Number of Companies for Which Our Review Identified	22
Disclosure on Certain Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Topics by Industry, Generally Covering Data from 2018	24
Figure 4: Number of Companies for Which Our Review Identified Disclosure on Certain Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Topics by Document, Generally	
Covering Data from 2018	26
Figure 5: Examples of Generic and Company-Specific Disclosures Figure 6: Category of Disclosure on Certain Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Topics of Selected	28
Companies, Generally Covering Data from 2018 Figure 7: Examples of the Range of Detail in Company-Specific Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG)	29
Disclosures Accessible Data for The Four Environmental, Social, and	31
Governance (ESG) Disclosure Topics GAO Reviewed with the Most and Least Company-Specific Disclosures, Generally Covering Data from 2018	60
Accessible Data for Figure 2: Number of Companies for Which Our Review Identified Disclosure on Certain	
Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Factors and Topics, Generally Covering Data from 2018 Accessible Data for Figure 6: Category of Disclosure on Certain	61
Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Topics of Selected Companies, Generally Covering Data from 2018	64

Figures

Carbon Disclosure Project
Division of Corporation Finance
environmental, social, and governance
European Securities and Markets Authority
Global Reporting Initiative
International Integrated Reporting Council
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board
Securities and Exchange Commission
Task Force on Climate-Related Financial
Disclosures

This is a work of the U.S. government and is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. The published product maybe reproduced and distributed in its entirety without further permission from GAO. However, because this work may contain copyrighted images or other material, permission from the copyright holder may be necessary if you wish to reproduce this material separately.

S. GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY OFFICE

441 G St. N.W. Washington, DC 20548

July 2, 2020

The Honorable Mark Warner United States Senate

Dear Senator Warner:

Investors are increasingly asking public companies to disclose information on environmental, social, and governance (ESG) factors to help them understand risks to the company's financial performance or other issues, such as the impact of the company's business on communities. Examples of ESG factors include climate-related impacts, investments in human capital, and the strength of a company's data security program. Some of the largest institutional investors in the United States have announced that they take ESG factors into account to inform their investment decisions and manage investment risks. For example, in a recent letter to clients, executives of BlackRock, Inc., which manages more than \$6 trillion in investment assets, stated their view that ESG investment options can offer investors better outcomes.¹ This letter also outlined plans to increase their focus on managing ESG-related risks through how BlackRock constructs investment portfolios, designs investment products, and engages with companies.²

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) requires public companies to disclose material information—which can include material

¹As of June 2019, BlackRock managed a total of \$6.84 trillion in assets across equity, fixed income, cash management, alternative investment, real estate, and advisory strategies, according to BlackRock's website.

²In 2018, we reviewed 11 studies in peer-reviewed academic journals published from 2012 to 2017 that assessed the impact on financial performance of incorporating ESG factors. Nine of the 11 studies reported finding a neutral or positive relationship between financial returns and the use of ESG information to inform investment management decisions in comparison to otherwise similar investments that did not incorporate ESG information. See GAO, *Retirement Plan Investing: Clearer Information on Consideration of Environmental, Social, and Governance Factors Would Be Helpful, GAO-18-398* (Washington, D.C.: May 22, 2018).

ESG information—in their annual 10-K filings and other periodic filings.³ SEC has issued interpretive releases to help explain to companies how current disclosure requirements apply to particular ESG topics, such as climate change. Third-party organizations have created voluntary frameworks for companies to consider to improve the quality and consistency of companies' ESG disclosures. However, some investors and market observers have continued to express dissatisfaction with the quality and consistency of public companies' ESG disclosures.

You asked us to review issues related to public companies' disclosures of ESG information.⁴ This report examines (1) why and how investors have sought additional ESG disclosures; (2) how public companies' disclosures of selected ESG factors have compared within and across selected industries; (3) steps SEC staff have taken to assess the effectiveness of the agency's efforts to review the disclosure of material ESG factors; and (4) the advantages and disadvantages of policy options that investors and other market observers have proposed to improve ESG disclosures.⁵

To obtain information about how and why investors have sought additional ESG disclosures, we reviewed relevant reports and studies by academics, investment firms, and others. In addition, we conducted semistructured interviews with a nongeneralizable sample of 14 institutional investors:

four large private asset management firms (each with more than \$1 trillion in worldwide assets under management as of December 31, 2018);

⁴This review was conducted in response to a 2018 request from Senator Mark Warner — then Ranking Member, Senate Subcommittee on Securities, Insurance, and Investment.

³Material information can include, among other things, known trends, events, and uncertainties that are reasonably likely to have an effect on the company's financial condition or operating performance, as well as potential risks to investing in the company. SEC considers information to be material if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in making an investment decision in the context of the total mix of available information.

⁵For other GAO work on ESG disclosures, see GAO, *Climate Related Risks: SEC Has Taken Steps to Clarify Disclosure Requirements*, GAO-18-188 (Washington, D.C.: Feb. 20, 2018); GAO-18-398; and *Corporate Boards: Strategies to Address Representation of Women Include Federal Disclosure Requirements*, GAO-16-30 (Washington, D.C.: Dec. 3, 2015).

- three mid-sized private asset management firms (each with from \$500 billion to \$1 trillion in worldwide assets under management as of December 31, 2018);
- three large public pension funds (each with more than \$100 billion in total assets as of September 30, 2018); and
- four mid-sized public pension funds (each with from \$40 billion to \$100 billion in total assets as of September 30, 2018).⁶

To get a mix of regional perspectives, we incorporated geographic location into our selection when possible. For example, we selected at least one of the seven public pension funds from each of four U.S. census regions (Northeast, South, Midwest, and West). To understand trends in the use of shareholder proposals to promote improved ESG disclosure, we obtained and analyzed proposals for a generalizable, random sample of 100 public companies listed on the S&P Composite 1500 as of October 4, 2019.⁷

To compare public companies' ESG disclosures within and across industries, we analyzed disclosures from a nongeneralizable sample of 32 companies across eight industries on eight ESG factors. We selected ESG factors that were frequently cited as important to investors and companies by a range of market observers, including ESG standardsetting organizations and academics. We selected the eight industries because they represented a range of sectors of the U.S. economy (e.g., transportation, services, and manufacturing). By selecting four of the eight largest companies in each industry, we arrived at 32 companies. We reviewed companies' recent regulatory filings (10-K and definitive proxy statement), annual reports, and voluntary corporate social responsibility

⁶In this report, we refer to asset management firms in the private sector as "private" to differentiate them from public pension funds. Our sample of these asset management firms includes firms that are publicly traded.

⁷The S&P Composite 1500 combines three indices—the S&P 500, the S&P MidCap 400, and the S&P SmallCap 600.

reports to identify relevant disclosures on the selected ESG topics.⁸ In addition, we conducted semi-structured interviews with representatives from 18 of the 32 companies to obtain their perspectives on their ESG disclosure practices.⁹

To review SEC staff's efforts related to ESG disclosures, we reviewed relevant Division of Corporation Finance (Corporation Finance) procedures. We also interviewed SEC officials and 15 review staff (six attorneys, six accountants, and three branch chiefs) involved in Corporation Finance's oversight of public companies' disclosures. To identify relevant policy proposals to improve ESG disclosures, we reviewed reports and public statements and comments from investors, ESG standard-setting organizations, and other groups. In addition, we reviewed reports and studies on international ESG disclosure requirements to identify and obtain information about relevant policy approaches implemented in other countries. We also interviewed government officials in the United Kingdom and Japan and stock exchange and industry association representatives from South Africa. Finally, we conducted interviews with 13 market observers, including ESG standard-setting organizations, academics, and representatives of industry and investor groups to obtain their perspectives on issues and

⁸We reviewed companies' 2018 10-Ks, 2019 definitive proxy statements (which typically covered the same reporting period as the 2018 10-K), and 2018 annual reports (when different from the company's 10-K). Companies are required to send an annual report to their shareholders or post the report on their websites before an annual meeting to elect directors. Some companies choose to use their 10-K as their annual report and do not provide separate annual reports. We reviewed annual reports that were distinct from companies' 10-Ks. Of our selected companies, 21 published annual reports separate from their 10-Ks. We also reviewed companies' most recent sustainability reports available on their websites, accessed from July through December 2019. The reporting years for these sustainabilityreports were: 2017 (three companies), 2017–2018 (three companies), 2018 (16 companies), or 2018-2019 (three companies). Seven companies did not have sustainability reports available on their websites. Sustainability reports are sometimes called corporate responsibility reports or ESG reports. SEC's rules and regulations also generally require foreign companies with securities listed in the United States to file an annual form 20-F, which contains financial and nonfinancial information for investors. For the purposes of this report, we did not review form 20-F filings.

⁹We requested interviews with all 32 of our selected companies, but eight companies declined, and six companies did not respond to our request. For those that did not respond, we made at least three requests by email.

policy options related to ESG disclosures.¹⁰ We selected these market observers through studies and reports of companies' ESG disclosures that identified leading observers with subject matter expertise and through referrals obtained during interviews for this study.

We conducted this performance audit from January 2019 to July 2020 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Background

The use of ESG factors has emerged as a way for investors to capture information on potential risks and opportunities that otherwise may not be taken into account in financial analysis. ESG factors like climate change impacts and workplace safety may affect a company's expected financial performance and thereby its value to shareholders. See table 1 for examples of ESG factors.

Environmental	Social	Governance
Climate change impacts and greenhouse gas emissions	Laborstandards	Board composition
Energy efficiency	Humanrights	Executive compensation
Renewable energy	Employee engagement	Audit committee structure
Air, water, resource depletion, or pollution	Customersatisfaction	Bribery and corruption
Wastemanagement	Communityrelations	Whistleblowerprograms
Biodiversity impacts	Gender and diversity	Accident and safety management

Table 1: Examples of Environmental, Social, and Governance Factors

Source: GAO analysis of documentation from the CFA Institute, Sustainable Accounting Standards Board, and Principles for Responsible Investment. | GAO-20-530

¹⁰To characterize investor, company, SEC review staff, and market observer views throughout the report, we consistently defined modifiers to quantify the views of each group as follows: "nearly all" represents 80–99 percent of the group, "most" represents 50–79 percent of the group, and "some" represents 20–49 percent of the group. The number of interviews each modifier represents differs based on the number of interviews in that grouping: 14 institutional investors, 18 public companies, 15 SEC review staff, and 13 market observers.

ESG standard-setting organizations were created to improve transparency and consistency in companies' disclosure of ESG information. Several independent and nonprofit organizations have created voluntary frameworks companies may use to disclose on ESG issues, as shown in table 2. Frameworks are generally comprised of single-issue categories that contain several specific disclosure topics related to that category.

Table 2: Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Standard-Setting Organizations and Voluntary Reporting Frameworks

ESG standard-setting organization	Description of voluntary reporting framework
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)	GRI is an international nonprofit organization that was established in 1997. GRI created the first international guidelines for sustainability reporting in 2000, then replaced these guidelines with sustainability reporting standards in 2016. According to GRI, 82 percent of the world's 250 largest companies report on ESG topics using the GRI standards. Companies determine which, if any, of their business operations may have a relevant impact and select GRI sustainability reporting standards accordingly.
United Nations Global Compact	The United Nations Global Compact was established in 2000. Participating companies are encouraged to incorporate the compact's 10 principles on human rights, labor, the environment, and anti-corruption into their operations. In 2017, the compact partnered with GRI to produce a guide that uses GRI's standards to help companies disclose how they act on the compact's 10 principles.
International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC)	IIRC is an international nonprofit organization that was established in 2010, which encourages companies to merge their financial and sustainability disclosures using a process called integrated reporting. IIRC's integrated reporting framework provides companies with guidance on the principles and content of integrated reports, but it does not provide standards for ESG disclosures.
SustainabilityAccounting Standards Board (SASB)	SASB is a U.S. nonprofit organization that was established in 2011. In 2018, SASB developed a voluntary reporting framework in consultation with companies, investors, and subject matter experts. The framework is comprised of industry-specific sustainability accounting standards for 77 industries intended to allow companies to communicate ESG information that could have a financial impact on the company.
Additional climate change-related frameworks: CDP Global (previously the Carbon Disclosure Project)	CDP is an international nonprofit organization that was established in 2000. CDP scores organizations on environmental risks and opportunities related to climate change, water security, and deforestation. CDP gathers information to generate its scores and reports by sending questionnaires to participating investors and companies as well as public entities, including cities, states, and regions.
Additional climate change-related frameworks: Task Force on Climate- Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)	TCFD was established by the Financial Stability Board in 2015 to make recommendations for improving principles and practices for voluntary climate change disclosure. In 2017, TCFD released a climate-related risk disclosure framework. This framework is intended to help companies consider and report on risks associated with climate change, such as physical, liability, and transition risks that could have a financial impact on a company in the future.

Source: GAO analysis of standard-setting framework documents. | GAO-20-530

SEC rules and regulations generally require public companies to disclose, among other things, known trends, events, and uncertainties that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the company's financial condition or operating performance, as well as potential risks to investing in the company. SEC considers information to be material if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in making an investment decision in the context of the total mix of available information.¹¹ Public companies disclose information on an ongoing basis through annual 10-K filings, guarterly 10-Q filings, and definitive proxy statements, among other disclosure requirements.¹² Regulation S-K contains SEC integrated disclosure requirements for 10-K filings and other periodic reports filed with SEC.13 Staff in Corporation Finance are to selectively review 10-K filings for compliance with requirements outlined in Regulation S-K and other applicable accounting standards and form requirements. While federal securities laws generally do not specifically address the disclosure of ESG information, Regulation S-K's disclosure requirements for nonfinancial information apply to material ESG topics. Regulation S-K also includes prescriptive requirements for disclosure of certain topics considered to be ESG topics, such as board composition, executive compensation, and audit committee structure.14

Corporation Finance's legal and accounting staff review filings through seven offices organized by industry, and office managers assign different levels of reviews to 10-K filings, such as full reviews (which include financial and legal reviews) and financial-only reviews. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires SEC to review the financial statements of each reporting company at least once every 3 years, which informs,

¹²Definitive proxy statements are the final version of proxy statements that public companies are required to file with SEC and provide to shareholders prior to certain shareholder meetings.

¹³See Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. Pt. 229.

¹¹See 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-2, 230.405; see also Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231-32 (1988) (quoting *TSC Industries, Inc. v. Northway, Inc.*, 426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976)) ("[T]o fulfill the materiality requirement 'there must be a substantial likelihood that the omitted fact would have been viewed by the reasonable investor as having significantly altered the 'total mix' of information made available."). For the purposes of this report, we use "companies," to refer to public companies subject to the registration and reporting requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

¹⁴SEC also has proposed amendments to modernize Regulation S-K, including refocusing the disclosure of human capital resources to include any material information on human capital measures or objectives on which the company focuses in managing the business. *See* Modernization of Regulation S-K Items 101, 103, and 105, 84 Fed. Reg. 44,358 (proposed Aug. 23, 2019). Current human capital disclosure rules require companies to report on their number of employees, and these changes aim to provide investors with a better understanding of how companies manage human capital resources.

among other factors, how Corporation Finance selects and determines the extent to which 10-K filings are reviewed.¹⁵ In conducting these reviews, Corporation Finance staff may provide comments to a company to obtain additional information, clarification on the company's disclosure, or to significantly enhance its compliance with applicable reporting requirements. Comments depend on the issues that arise in a particular filing, and staff may request that a company provide additional information to help them better evaluate disclosures.

SEC occasionally issues interpretive releases on topics of general interest to the business and investment communities, which reflect the Commission's views and interpret federal securities laws and SEC regulations. For example, in 2010, SEC issued the Commission Guidance Regarding Disclosure Related to Climate Change, which described how existing disclosure requirements could apply to climate change-related information and how companies may consider climate disclosures in required filings.¹⁶ In 2018, SEC also issued the Commission Statement and Guidance on Public Company Cybersecurity Disclosures, outlining how existing reporting requirements could apply to cybersecurity-related risks and incidents.¹⁷ These interpretive releases do not establish new reporting requirements. Instead, they identify items in existing laws and regulations that may be most likely to require disclosure on these topics, such as description of the company's business and potential risk factors that may affect the company.

¹⁵Sarbanes-OxleyAct of 2002, Pub. L. No. 107-204, §408, 116 Stat. 745, 790-91 (2002) (codified at 15 U.S.C. § 7266).

¹⁶Commission Guidance Regarding Disclosure Related to Climate Change, 75 Fed. Reg. 6290 (Feb. 8, 2010).

¹⁷Commission Statement and Guidance on Public Company Cybersecurity Disclosures, 83 Fed. Reg. 8166 (Feb. 26, 2018).

Most Large Investors Told Us They Sought Additional ESG Disclosures to Better Understand and Compare Companies' Risks

Most Investors Said They Engage with Companies to Address Gaps or Inconsistencies in ESG Disclosures That Limit Their Usefulness

Institutional investors with whom we spoke generally agreed that ESG issues can have a substantial effect on a company's long-term financial performance.¹⁸ All seven private asset managers and representatives at five of seven public pension funds said they seek ESG information to enhance their understanding of risks that could affect companies' value over time. Representatives at the other two pension funds said that they generally do not consider ESG information relevant to assessing companies' financial performance. While investors with whom we spoke primarily used ESG information to assess companies' long-term value, other investors also use ESG information to promote social goals. A 2018 US SIF survey found that private asset managers and other investors, representing over \$3.1 trillion (of the \$46.6 trillion in total U.S. assets under professional management), said they consider ESG issues as part of their mission or in order to produce benefits for society.¹⁹

¹⁸Institutional investors include public and private entities that pool funds on behalf of others and invest the funds in securities and other investment assets. We interviewed 14 institutional investors: four large private-sector asset management firms (each with more than \$1 trillion in worldwide assets under management), three private-sector mid-sized asset management firms (each with from \$500 billion to \$1 trillion in worldwide assets under management), three private-sector mid-sized assets under management), three large public pension funds (each with more than \$100 billion in total assets), and four mid-sized public pension funds (each with from \$40 billion to \$100 billion in total assets). Other types of institutional investors include private or nonprofit organizations such as labor organizations, foundations, and faith-based investors.

¹⁹US SIF: The Forum for Sustainable and Responsible Investment, *Report on US Sustainable, Responsible and Impact Investing Trends* (2018). US SIF is a nonprofit organization that promotes sustainable investment practices by encouraging members to focus on long-term investment and ensure that ESG impacts are meaningfully assessed in all investment decisions. US SIF members include private asset management firms, asset owners, and private and nonprofit investing organizations.

Institutional investors we interviewed identified various ways they use ESG disclosures to inform their investment decisions and manage risks related to their investments.

- Protecting long-term investments by monitoring companies' management of ESG risks. Some investors with whom we spoke noted that they primarily make long-term investments in passively managed funds, which may prevent them from making investment decisions based on ESG information.²⁰ However, 10 of 14 investors said that their focus on long-term factors that drive value leads them to monitor or influence companies' management of ESG issues to protect their investments. Investors generally said they use ESG disclosures to determine which ESG issues companies monitor and to assess how companies manage these risks. Nearly all investors said ESG issues can be important to a company's operations and performance over time. For example, seven of 14 investors said they used ESG disclosures to identify companies that were less transparent than their peers or appeared to be outliers in their industries, such as having less board diversity than their peers. Investors then engaged with these companies to discuss their risk-management strategies, encourage disclosure on ESG issues, or provide information about what kind of disclosure they would find useful.
- Informing shareholder votes. Most investors with whom we spoke said they use ESG information to inform their votes as shareholders at annual shareholder meetings, either through a proxy advisory firm or independently.²¹ Specifically, nine of 14 investors said that ESG information informs how they vote on directors' nominations to the board and other proposals at public companies' annual meetings. For example, representatives from two large public pension funds said they withhold votes for directors if they determine that a company's board had not

²⁰For example, an investment firm may employ a passive investment strategyby managing the selection and allocation of investments in a particular fund with the goal of matching the returns of a benchmark index, such as the S&P 500. In contrast, an active investment strategy involves choosing investments with the goal of generating returns that outperform a benchmark index.

²¹Shareholders of publicly traded companies generally vote annually on issues that could affect the companies' value, such as the election of directors, executive compensation packages, and proposed mergers and acquisitions. The shareholders receive advance notice of the votes through a definitive proxy statement and may vote in person or choose a third party (proxy) to cast their vote. Most proxy votes are cast by or on behalf of institutional investors, such as mutual funds and pension funds, because of the level of stocks they manage relative to other types of investors.

effectively disclosed issues, such as climate risk or executive performance metrics.²²

- Creating ESG funds or portfolios. Five of 14 investors we interviewed said they created ESG-focused investment funds or portfolios with goals such as promoting social responsibility and environmental sustainability. In creating these funds and portfolios, investors generally review companies' ESG disclosures to determine which companies to include or exclude from these funds or portfolios. For example, two private asset managers said they created ESG funds or portfolios to attract investors focused on social goals, such as faith-based investors, while representatives from one pension fund said they had worked with an asset manager to create a low-emissions index intended to support the Paris Agreement's goals.²³
- **Divesting.** Some investors we interviewed said they typically would not divest based on a company's ESG disclosures, and three said that ESG information could lead them to divest. A mid-size asset manager noted that the firm works with companies to improve their disclosures rather than divest. Conversely, representatives from one mid-size pension fund said they found that buying or selling shares is a more efficient method for changing corporate behavior than the lengthier strategy of engaging companies in dialogue. Additionally, a large asset manager said that its portfolio managers sell shares if a company's ESG performance or response to engagement is poor.

Although some studies report that the quantity and quality of ESG disclosures generally improved in the last few years, 11 of 14 investors with whom we spoke said they seek additional ESG disclosures from

²²When directors run unopposed, shareholders have the option to withhold their vote in favor of the candidate. According to SEC's Office of Investor Education and Advocacy, while a substantial number of "withhold" votes will not prevent an unopposed candidate from being elected, it can indicate shareholder dissatisfaction with the candidate and sometimes influence future decisions on director nominees by the board of directors.

²³The Paris Agreement is an agreement reached by parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change to strengthen the global response to the threat of climate change that entered into force in 2016.

companies to address gaps and inconsistencies, among other issues.²⁴ Investors described challenges with understanding and interpreting both quantitative and narrative disclosures.

- Quantitative disclosures. Investors cited examples of inconsistencies in companies' quantitative disclosures that limit comparability, including comparability among companies that disclose on the same ESG topics. Specifically, investors described challenges such as the variety of different metrics that companies used to report on the same topics, unclear calculations, or changing methods for calculating a metric. For example, five of 14 investors said that companies' disclosures on environmental or social issues use a variety of metrics to describe the same topic. A few studies have reported that the lack of consistent and comparable metric standards have hindered companies' ability to effectively report on ESG topics, because they are unsure what information investors want.²⁵ In addition, some investors said that companies may change which metrics they use to disclose on an ESG topic from one year to the next, making disclosures hard to compare within the same company over time.
- Narrative disclosures. Most investors noted gaps in narrative disclosures that limited their ability to understand companies' strategies for considering ESG risks and opportunities. For example, some investors noted that some narrative disclosures contained generic language, were not specific to how the company addressed ESG issues, or were not focused on material information. For example, two private asset managers said that companies may provide boilerplate narratives or insufficient context for their quantitative disclosures, and representatives from one pension fund said that the fund would like additional disclosures on cybersecurity but has found that most disclosures on this topic are generic and not very helpful.

²⁴International Monetary Fund, *Global Financial Stability Report: Lower for Longer* (October 2019); Council of Institutional Investors Research and Education Fund, *Board Evaluation Disclosure* (January2019); Investor Responsibility Research Center Institute and Sustainable Investments Institute, *State of Integrated and Sustainability Reporting* 2018 (2018); Sustainable Accounting Standards Board, *The State of Disclosure 2017: An Analysis of the Effectiveness of Sustainability Disclosure in SEC Filings* (December 2017); and KPMG, *Survey of Corporate Responsibility Reporting 2017* (October 2017).

²⁵World Economic Forum, *Toward Common Metrics and Consistent Reporting of Sustainable Value Creation* (January2020); International Monetary Fund, *Global Financial Stability Report: Lower for Longer* (October 2019); and U. S. Chamber of Commerce Foundation and the Chamber's Center for Capital Markets Competitiveness, *Corporate Sustainability Reporting: Past, Present, Future* (November 2018).

Additionally, most institutional investors said that there is fragmentation in the format or location of companies' ESG disclosures, which can make this information hard to compile and review. However, these investors generally said that it is more important for companies to focus on providing disclosures than on how or where the disclosures are presented. These investors said that they are able to purchase access to compiled data from third-party data providers to use in their analysis of companies' ESG disclosures.

Regarding how investors seek ESG disclosures, nearly all institutional investors with whom we spoke said they engage with companies to request additional ESG disclosures through meetings, telephone calls, or letters. Some investors said that companies' responsiveness, which can include producing ESG presentations for investors and discussing ESG information on earnings calls, varied by size because larger companies have more resources to respond to investor engagement. Engagement also can be complicated by conflicting investor demands, as well as the proliferation of standards and surveys. According to representatives from an industry group that we interviewed, the large number of demands for specific ESG information from investors and third parties can pose a challenge to companies as they prioritize how to respond. For example, one company said it receives diverse requests for information that indicate that those investors do not agree on what issues are most important.

To a Limited Degree, Some Investors Seek ESG Disclosures through Shareholder Proposals

Some investors seek additional ESG disclosures by submitting shareholder proposals, which are requests from shareholders that the company take action on a specific issue or issues. These proposals are generally presented for a shareholder vote at public companies' annual meetings.²⁶ However, shareholder proposals can be withdrawn before coming to a vote when the company reaches an agreement with the shareholder who submitted the proposal prior to the annual meeting.

Our analysis of a generalizable sample of companies listed on the S&P 1500 found that in 2019, an estimated 10 percent of companies received one or more shareholder proposals and an estimated 5 percent of companies received one or more shareholder proposals related to increasing ESG disclosures.²⁷ For the ESG-related proposals in our sample, on average about 28 percent of shareholders voted in favor of these proposals and no proposals received more than 50 percent of the vote.²⁸ As shown in table 3, the companies in our sample received a total of six proposals requesting additional ESG disclosures on a variety of social and governance topics. Most of these proposals were submitted to large companies.²⁹ Investors that submitted proposals included one public

²⁶According to SEC, under state law shareholders generally have the right to appear in person at an annual or special meeting and put forth a resolution to be voted on by the shareholders. See Procedural Requirements and Resubmission Thresholds under Exchange Act Rule 14a-8, 84 Fed. Reg. 66,458, 66,474 (proposed Dec. 4, 2019). U.S. public companies generally hold their annual meetings to consider keymanagement and shareholder proposals that may have an effect on a company's operations and value, such as executive compensation and director elections, or other more routin e issues that may not affect value, such as changing a corporate name or approving an auditor. Under SEC rules, shareholders who have held at least\$2,000 or 1 percent of a company's stock for 1 year can submit proposals for a vote. SEC has proposed an update to this threshold and suggested that higher ownership requirements or longer holding periods would demonstrate a shareholder's economic stake or long-term investment interest in the company. See id.

²⁷All estimates from our review of a sample of companies' shareholder proposals are subject to sampling error. These estimates have a 95 percent confidence interval that extends from 6 to 17 percent for companies receiving one or more shareholder proposals and from 2 to 11 percent for companies receiving one or more shareholder proposals related to increasing ESG disclosures. We only reviewed shareholder proposals that were included in companies' 2019 shareholder meeting materials.

²⁸Voting requirements vary among U.S. public companies. Companies' bylaws generally determine how shareholder votes are counted and requirements differ based on the type of proposal being voted, the proportion of votes required for an item to pass, and which votes are factored into the voting outcome. For example, some U.S. public com panies count abstentions as votes cast against certain nonbinding items, such as votes on executive compensation and shareholder proposals, while others count only votes cast for and against the item. Some companies require items to receive more than 50 pe rcent of the vote to be considered as having passed.

²⁹For our sample, we refer to companies appearing in the S&P 500 as large, companies in the S&P MidCap 400 as mid-sized, and companies in the S&P SmallCap 600 as small.

pension fund, one labor organization, three socially focused asset managers, and one higher education endowment.

Table 3: Shareholder Proposals Submitted to 100 Sampled Companies Requesting Additional Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Disclosures, 2019

Company size	ESG topic and classification	Additional ESG disclosure requested	Type of investor	Percentage votes in favor ^a	
Large	Political spending (Governance)	Report corporate spending on political activities	Pension fund	34.4	
Large	Personnelmanagement (Social)	Report on the potential impacts of mandatory arbitration for employees' sexual harassment claims	Laborunion	34.0	
Large	Human rights (Social)	Report on the risk of child exploitation occurring via the company's products and services	Faith-based assetmanager	33.0	
Large	Executive compensation (Governance)	Report on the feasibility of linking executive compensation to performance around cybersecurity and data privacy	ESG investment fund	12.2	
Mid-sized	Board diversity (Governance)	Report on steps to enhance board diversity	ESG investment fund	26.6	
Mid-sized	Supply chain management (Social)	Report on steps to increase supplychain transparency	Higher education endowment	No vote ^b	
Average	na	na	na	28.0	

Source: GAO review of shareholder proposals. | GAO-20-530

^aThe percentage of votes in favor was calculated using the number of votes shareholders cast in favor of the proposal divided by the sum of votes cast in favor, against, and abstain.

^bThe company's 8-K filing that included the Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders did not record a vote on this shareholder proposal. There are several possible reasons for not voting on a proposal, such as the proponent did not present the proposal at the annual meeting or w ithdrew the proposal before the meeting.

Notes: In this table, we refer to companies appearing in the S&P 500 as large, companies in the S&P MidCap 400 as mid-sized, and companies in the S&P SmallCap 600 as small. Each of the proposals in the table (1) was submitted to a company in our generalizable sample, (2) contained a request for an additional ESG disclosure, and (3) was included in the company's 2019 annual shareholder meeting materials. No small companies in our sample received a shareholder proposal requesting additional ESG disclosure in 2019.

All of the private asset management firms and representatives from three of seven pension funds we interviewed said they do not use shareholder proposals as a means to influence companies' ESG disclosures. One of these pension funds said they have found filing shareholder proposals unnecessary after engaging in dialogue with companies. However, representatives from four of seven pension funds said they have filed shareholder proposals to seek additional ESG disclosures. Two large pension funds said they have found filing shareholder proposals an important engagement method for getting companies' attention on ESG issues, while the other two funds noted that it was rare for them to file a proposal.

Similarly, studies and reports we reviewed indicated that shareholder proposals are concentrated among a relatively small number of shareholders and that the number of proposals has been declining in the last 5 years.³⁰ For example, a law firm's analysis of shareholder proposals filed with companies listed on the S&P 1500 in 2019 reported that 10 investors submitted over half of all proposals.³¹ This report also found that faith-based investors and socially focused asset managers, who seek to advance social causes in their investments, submitted the majority of environmental and social proposals in both 2018 and 2019. In addition, this analysis showed that the total number of shareholder proposals, including withdrawn proposals, submitted annually declined each year from 2015 to 2019. As the total number of proposals has declined, shareholder proposals related to environmental and social issues constituted over 45 percent of proposals each year from 2015 to 2019.32 While studies found that during this same time period shareholder support increased for these environmental and social proposals that went to a vote, shareholder support for most of them remained below 30 percent.³³

³²SustainabilityAccounting Standards Board, 2015 Annual Report (June 2016); Sullivan and Cromwell, LLP, 2018 Proxy Season Review (July 2018); and Sullivan and Cromwell, LLP, 2019 Proxy Season Review, Part I: Rule 14a-8 Shareholder Proposals (July 2019).

³³US SIF: The Forum for Sustainable and Responsible Investment, *Report on US Sustainable, Responsible and Impact Investing Trends* (2018); Sullivan and Cromwell, LLP, *2018 Proxy Season Review* (July 2018); and Sullivan and Cromwell, LLP, *2019 Proxy Season Review, Part I: Rule 14a-8 Shareholder Proposals*, (July 2019).

³⁰These studies include shareholder proposals that were included in the shareholder meeting materials and those that were withdrawn before being included. Some shareholder proposals are submitted by investors representing larger groups of investors, which submit proposals through individual members.

³¹Sullivan and Cromwell, LLP, 2019 Proxy Season Review, Part I: Rule 14a-8 Shareholder Proposals (July 2019). The law firm Sullivan and Cromwell advises U.S. public companies on corporate governance issues, including the shareholder proposal process. The firm's analysis relied on data from Institutional Shareholder Services, Inc. that was current as of June 30, 2019. Sullivan and Cromwell estimates that 90 percent of U.S. public companies' annual shareholder meetings are held before June 30 each year.

Selected Companies Generally Disclosed Many ESG Topics but Lack of Detail and Consistency May Reduce Usefulness to Investors

Companies Considered Stakeholder Input and Regulatory Requirements in Disclosing on ESG Topics

Representatives from public companies with whom we spoke said they use several methods and consider multiple factors when deciding which ESG topics to report. Most companies (10 of 18) noted that legal and regulatory requirements were their primary consideration when determining which ESG factors to disclose.³⁴ In addition, nearly all companies (15 of 18) told us they conduct some form of stakeholder engagement when determining what ESG information beyond regulatory requirements to report. As part of the engagement process, companies generally said they reach out to investors, representatives of communities they operate in, and other interested stakeholders to solicit their opinions about which ESG factors are important to them. Some companies described their ESG stakeholder engagement process as part of their broader company-wide outreach efforts, while others told us they hired outside firms to conduct this engagement on their behalf.

In addition to stakeholder outreach, most companies (11 of 18) told us they perform assessments to determine which ESG topics to include in their regulatory filings or other reports. As part of these assessments, companies review a wide array of potential risks and identify the ones that would have the most impact on their business. In addition to requirements, outreach and assessments, most companies (nine of 18) told us they review ESG disclosure frameworks, such as GRI and SASB, to inform their consideration of which ESG factors to disclose.

Similar to deciding which ESG topics to disclose, most companies (10 of 18) told us they also rely on legal and regulatory requirements when determining where to disclose ESG information. Specifically, companies

³⁴As mentioned previously, SEC rules and regulations require public companies to disclose material information, including material ESG information, in their annual 10-K filings and other periodic reports filed with SEC. Similarly, SEC requires companies to provide certain governance information in their proxy statements in advance of shareholder meetings where shareholders elect members of the company's board of directors.

said they identify those ESG factors that should be included in the 10-K or proxy statement according to SEC requirements, and publish information on these factors in their regulatory filings. In addition, some companies (six of 18) told us that they view their voluntary sustainability report as complementary to their regulatory filings. Specifically, four companies said they view their sustainability reports as a place to publish relevant ESG information that may not necessarily be material under the SEC definition and is therefore not included in regulatory filings. Lastly, some companies also told us that their voluntary sustainability reports provide an opportunity to disclose information that is of interest to ESG-focused investors or non-investor stakeholders. For example, some companies (five of 18) told us they use these reports to reach a broader stakeholder audience beyond investors, including employees and customers, when writing their sustainability reports.

In addition to the regulatory and voluntary reporting that we reviewed, representatives from all 18 companies said they communicate ESG information in other ways. For example, most companies (13 of 18) said they also publish issue-specific ESG reports, most commonly on climate change.³⁵ Most companies (12 of 18) also said they include ESG information on their company websites, because information could be updated more frequently and include more dynamic content, such as videos. Finally, most companies (11 of 18) told us they have developed ESG-focused presentations for investors, and some companies (four of 18) said they have begun including ESG information in their traditional investor communications, such as quarterly earnings calls and stockholder bulletins.

Most Companies Disclosed on Many ESG Topics, but Detail Varied on How ESG-Related Risks Are Managed

To assess the amount and characteristics of the ESG information companies report, we reviewed regulatory filings and voluntary reports

³⁵Most companies said they submitted responses to an annual questionnaire from CDP, and other companies said they have issued their own stand -alone climate change reports. Other companies said they published issue -specific reports on ESG topics directly relevant to their industry. For example, a utility companytold us it produces a report that details information related to its methane emissions, while a retailer that sells food said it has published reports with information on the use of palm oil in its supplychain.

issued by 32 large and mid-size public companies in eight industries.³⁶ For each company, we reviewed two types of regulatory filings (10-K and the definitive proxy statement), annual reports (when distinct from the 10-K), and voluntary sustainability reports (where available). Of our selected companies, 25 published voluntary sustainability reports and 21 published annual reports separate from their 10-Ks.³⁷ Using keyword search terms, we searched these documents to identify disclosures related to eight broad ESG factors and 33 more-specific disclosure topics under these factors (see fig. 1).³⁸ We selected ESG factors from among those that a range of market observers frequently cited as important to investors or potentially material and selected ESG topics by reviewing ESG disclosure frameworks. For more information about this methodology, see appendix I.

³⁸Of our 33 more-specific disclosure topics, 16 were narrative disclosures and 17 were quantitative metrics. We identified ESG disclosures by searching for keywords specific to each factor. The search terms we used were not intended to represent a comprehensive list of keywords that may relate to the ESG factors we selected for review. Therefore, the disclosures we identified are not intended to be a comprehensive list of companies' ESG disclosures on our selected topics.

³⁶These industries were airlines, beverages, biotechnology and pharmaceuticals, commercial banks, consumer retail, electric utilities, internet media and services, and oil and gas production.

³⁷We defined a sustainability report as a stand-alone comprehensive document that provided information on a range of environmental, social, and governance issues relevant to the company. We did not include single-issue documents or information included on websites that was not also part of the sustainability report. Sustainability reports are sometimes called corporate responsibility reports or ESG reports. We reviewed annual reports that were distinct from companies' 10-Ks. Companies report ESG information through means other than these four types of documents, such as through their website or issue-specific company reports.

Figure 1: Selected Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Factors and Topics for Our Review of Public Companies' ESG Disclosures

ESG category	ESG factor	Narrative ESG topics	Quantitative ESG topics
Environmental	Climate change	 Climate-related risks and opportunities the company has identified How the company manages climate-related risks and opportunities 	 Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1)^a Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2)^a Value chain greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 3)^a Reductions in greenhouse gas emissions
	Resource management ^b	 Risks and opportunities the company has identified related to energy or water resource management How the company manages risks and opportunities related to energy or water resource management 	 Total energy consumption or water withdrawal Energy consumption reduced or water withdrawal from areas with water stress
Social	Human rights	 Identification of company operations that might endanger human rights Company actions to protect human rights 	 Number of human rights infringements identified by the company Number of human rights reviews of operations performed by the company
	Personnel management	 Obstacles that might limit the company's ability to hire the talent it needs How the company recruits and retains personnel 	 Percentage of employees leaving the company either voluntarily or involuntarily Breakdown of employees by full- and part-time Percentage of employees represented by a collective bargaining agreement
	Workforce diversity	 Company actions to promote diversity and inclusion Company actions to prevent and address discrimination 	 Percentage of employees by gender Percentage of employees by race, ethnicity, or other demographic indicators Percentage of board members by race, ethnicity, or gender
Governance	Board accountability	 Company actions to incorporate shareholder preferences in board nominations Company actions to avoid conflicts of interest among board members Company actions to add new directors to the board 	 Number of independent board members^c
O	Data security	 How the company identifies and addresses data security risks How the company uses and protects consumer data 	Number of data security incidents
	Occupational health and safety	 How the company manages occupational health and safety risks 	 Hours of health and safety training for employees

Source: GAO analysis. | GAO-20-530

^aScope 1 emissions are direct emissions from sources that are ow ned or controlled by the company, such as emissions fromon-site fossil fuel combustion, company vehicles, and w astewater treatment. Scope 2 emissions are indirect emissions from purchased electricity. Scope 3 emissions are indirect emissions from sources not owned or directly controlled by the company but that are related to the company's activities, such as employee travel and commuting.

^bOur review of resource management disclosure covered energy management topics for companies in the airline, commercial banking, consumer retail, and internet media and services industries, and

covered w ater management topics for companies in the beverage, biotechnology and pharmaceuticals, electric utilities, and oil and gas production industries.

^cAn independent board member is generally a person w ho is not an executive officer or other employee of the company. For the purposes of our analysis, we used the definition of independent board member provided in the filing or report w e were reviewing.

As shown in figure 2, we identified disclosures on six or more of the eight ESG factors for 30 of the 32 companies in our sample and identified 19 companies that disclosed information on all eight factors. All selected companies disclosed at least some information on factors related to board accountability and resource management. In contrast, we identified the fewest companies disclosing on human rights and occupational health and safety factors.

With regard to the 33 more-specific ESG topic disclosures we examined, 23 of 32 companies disclosed on more than half of them. The topics companies disclosed most frequently were related to governance of the board of directors and addressing data security risks. Conversely, based on disclosures we identified, we found that companies less frequently reported information on topics related to the number of self-identified human rights violations and the number of data security incidents. In addition, we found that companies most frequently disclosed information on narrative topics and less frequently disclosed information on quantitative topics. There are several reasons why a company may not have disclosed information on a specific ESG topic, including that the topic is not relevant to its business operations or material.

Figure 2: Number of Companies for Which Our Review Identified Disclosure on Certain Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Factors and Topics, Generally Covering Data from 2018



Source: GAO analysis of company disclosures. | GAO-20-530

Notes: We review ed32 selected companies' 2018 10-Ks, 2019 definitive proxy statements (w hich typically covered the same reporting period as the 2018 10-K), and 2018 annual reports (when different fromthe 10-K). We also review ed companies' most recent sustainability reports available on their w ebsites, accessed from July through December 2019. These documents generally contained data from 2018, but some contained data from 2017 and 2019. Companies can report ESG information through means other than these four documents, such as through their w ebsites or issue-specific company reports. There are several reasons why a company may not disc lose information on a specific ESG topic, including that the topic is not relevant to its business operations or material.

Figure 3 compares the amount of disclosure on the 33 ESG topics within and across the selected industries. We identified the most disclosure on the group of topics related to board accountability, climate change, and workforce diversity and the least amount on topics related to human rights. SEC requires companies to report certain governance information in their proxy statements in advance of shareholder meetings where shareholders elect members of the company's board of directors, which may help explain why board accountability topics are the most reported across industries in our sample. Additionally, differences in disclosure can result, in part, from the relevance of an ESG topic to a particular industry. For example, more companies in the airline and oil and gas industries disclosed information on climate change, while more companies in the internet media and banking industries disclosed information on data security. We identified disclosures on fewer topics by companies in the internet media industry than the other industries we assessed. None of the four internet media companies in our sample issued a stand-alone sustainability report. As discussed below, most companies tended to include more extensive ESG disclosures in their sustainability reports than in their regulatory filings.

Figure 3: Number of Companies for Which Our Review Identified Disclosure on Certain Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Topics by Industry, Generally Covering Data from 2018

		Industry (max. 4 companies per indus					dustry)			
		Bevet	ages at	naceuticals Oil a	nd 985 Airi	mes Utilit	e ⁵ Reta	I Bank	19 Joh	netmedi
SG factor	ESG topics	/ 4°	Phi	/ OII	Air	Jun	1 4°	431	Inte	/
	Climate-related risks and opportunities the company has identified									
	How the company manages climate-related risks and opportunities									
	Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) (metric) ^a									
limate hange	Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2) (metric) ^a									
	Value chain greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 3) (metric) ^a									
	Reductions in greenhouse gas emissions (metric)									1
	Risks and opportunities the company has identified related to energy or water resource management How the company manages risks and opportunities related to energy or water									
Resource nanagement ^b	resource management Total energy consumption or water withdrawal (metric)		_							
1.2.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1	Energy consumption reduced or water withdrawal from areas with water stress						-			1
	(metric) Identification of company operations that might endanger human rights									
luman	Company actions to protect human rights									
ghts	Number of human rights infringements identified by the company (metric)									
	Number of human rights reviews of operations performed by the company (metric)									-
	Obstacles that might limit the company's ability to hire the talent it needs									
	How the company recruits and retains personnel									
Personnel nanagement	Percentage of employees leaving the company either voluntarily or involuntarily (metric)				_					
	Breakdown of employees by full- and part-time (metric)									
	Percentage of employees represented by a collective bargaining agreement (metric)									1
	Company actions to promote diversity and inclusion									
	Company actions to prevent and address discrimination									
Norkforce liversity	Percentage of employees by gender (metric)									1
	Percentage of employees by race, ethnicity, or other demographic indicators (metric)									1
	Percentage of board members by race, ethnicity, or gender (metric)]
	Company actions to incorporate shareholder preferences in board nominations									
loard ccountability	Company actions to avoid conflicts of interest among board members									
countability	Company actions to add new directors to the board									1
	Number of independent board members (metric)									
	How the company identifies and addresses data security risks									
ata ecurity	How the company uses and protects consumer data									
-	Number of data security incidents (metric)]
	How the company manages occupational health and safety risks									1
nealth and safety	Hours of health and safety training for employees (metric)									1

Source: GAO analysis of company disclosures. | GAO-20-530

^aScope 1 emissions are direct emissions from sources that are ow ned or controlled by the company, such as emissions from on-site fossil fuel combustion, company vehicles, and w astewater treatment.

Scope 2 emissions are indirect emissions frompurchased electricity. Scope 3 emissions are indirect emissions from sources not owned or directly controlled by the company but that are related to the company's activities, such as employee travel and commuting.

^bOur review of resource management information covered energy management topics for companies in the airline, commercial banking, consumer retail, and internet media and services industries, and covered w ater management topics for companies in the beverage, biotechnology and pharmaceuticals, electric utilities, and oil and gas production industries.

Notes: We review ed32 selected companies' 2018 10-Ks, 2019 definitive proxy statements (w hich typically covered the same reporting period as the 2018 10-K), and 2018 annual reports (when different fromthe 10-K). We also review ed companies' most recent sustainability reports available on their w ebsites, accessed from July through December 2019. These documents generally contained data from 2018, but some contained data from 2017 and 2019. Companies can report ESG information through means other than these four types of documents, such as through their w ebsites or issue-specific company reports. There are several reasons why a company may not disclose information on a specific ESG topic, including that the topic is not relevant to its business operations or material.

Figure 4 illustrates how the amount of disclosures on the 33 ESG topics compared across the four types of documents we reviewed. We found that companies generally reported information on a wider variety of ESG topics in their voluntary sustainability reports. Specifically, with the exception of a few topics, when companies disclosed information on an ESG topic, they most frequently did so in their sustainability reports. Certain ESG topics were reported more frequently in regulatory filings. For example, nearly all selected companies reported ESG information related to their board of directors in their proxy statements. Additionally, we found that companies disclosed on risks related to climate change, data security, hiring employees, and resource management in their 10-Ks, which includes a risk factors section where companies are required to discuss the most significant factors that make investment in the company speculative or risky.

Figure 4: Number of Companies for Which Our Review Identified Disclosure on Certain Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Topics by Document, Generally Covering Data from 2018

ESG factor	ESG topics	2018 Form 10-K (32 max. companies)	2019 proxy statement (32 max. companies)	2018 annual report (21 max. companies)	Recent sustainability report (25 max companies)
	Climate-related risks and opportunities the company has identified				
	How the company manages climate-related risks and opportunities				
Climate change	Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) (metric) ^a				
change	Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2) (metric) ^a				
	Value chain greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 3) (metric) ^a				
	Reductions in greenhouse gas emissions (metric)				
Resource	Risks and opportunities the company has identified related to energy or water resource management				
management ^b	How the company manages risks and opportunities related to energy or water resource management				
-	Total energy consumption or water withdrawal (metric)				
	Energy consumption reduced or water withdrawal from areas with water stress (metric)				
Human	Identification of company operations that might endanger human rights				
Human rights	Company actions to protect human rights				
0	Number of human rights infringements identified by the company (metric)				
	Number of human rights reviews of operations performed by the company (metric)				
Personnel	Obstacles that might limit the company's ability to hire the talent it needs				
management	How the company recruits and retains personnel				
	Percentage of employees leaving the company either voluntarily or involuntarily (metric)				
	Breakdown of employees by full- and part-time (metric)				
	Percentage of employees represented by a collective bargaining agreement (metric)				
Workforce	Company actions to promote diversity and inclusion				
diversity	Company actions to prevent and address discrimination				
	Percentage of employees by gender (metric)				
	Percentage of employees by race, ethnicity, or other demographic indicators (metric)				
	Percentage of board members by race, ethnicity, or gender (metric)				
Board	Company actions to incorporate shareholder preferences in board nominations				
accountability	Company actions to avoid conflicts of interest among board members				
	Company actions to add new directors to the board				
	Number of independent board members (metric)				
	How the company identifies and addresses data security risks				
Data security	How the company uses and protects consumer data				
	Number of data security incidents (metric)				
Occupational	How the company manages occupational health and safety risks				
health and safety	Hours of health and safety training for employees (metric)				
Number of comp	anies 0 1 to 7 8 to 15		16 to 23		24 to 32

Source: GAO analysis of company disclosures. | GAO-20-530

^aScope 1 emissions are direct emissions from sources that are ow ned or controlled by the company, such as emissions from on-site fossil fuel combustion, company vehicles, and w astewater treatment.

Scope 2 emissions are indirect emissions frompurchased electricity. Scope 3 emissions are indirect emissions from sources not owned or directly controlled by the company but that are related to the company's activities, such as employee travel and commuting.

^bOur review of resource management information covered energy management topics for companies in the airline, commercial banking, consumer retail, and internet media and services industries, and covered w ater management topics for companies in the beverage, biotechnology and pharmaceuticals, electric utilities, and oil and gas production industries.

Notes: We review ed32 selected companies' 2018 10-Ks, 2019 definitive proxy statements (w hich typically covered the same reporting period as the 2018 10-K), and 2018 annual reports (when different fromthe 10-K). We also review ed companies' most recent sustainability reports available on their w ebsites, accessed from July through December 2019. These documents generally contained data from 2018, but some contained data from 2017 and 2019. Companies can report ESG information through means other than these four documents, such as through their w ebsites or issue-specific company reports. There are several reasons why a company may not disclose information on a specific ESG topic, including that the topic is not relevant to its busin ess operations or material.

As discussed earlier, some investors with whom we spoke said they seek additional narrative disclosures from companies whose disclosures contained generic language or did not provide specific details about how the company manages ESG-related risks or opportunities. Among the 33 ESG topics we reviewed, 16 were topics for which companies reported a narrative rather than quantitative disclosure. We categorized these narrative disclosures as either generic or company-specific (see fig. 5 for examples).³⁹ We defined company-specific disclosures as those that discussed specific ways that ESG-related risks and opportunities could affect the company's operations or specific steps the company takes to manage or respond to the ESG-related risks or opportunities. We defined disclosures that did not include such specific details as generic disclosures. As a result, such generic disclosures can be considered applicable to the reporting company as well as to many of its peers. According to two reports, companies may choose not to disclose more detailed information for a particular ESG topic for several reasons, including concerns that such disclosures would put the company at a competitive disadvantage or expose it to legal liability.40

³⁹We considered each disclosure as a whole and, if it provided some company-specific information, we categorized the disclosure as company-specific. We did not characterize quantitative disclosures as we considered them to be inherently company-specific.

⁴⁰Fatima Maria Ahmad, *Beyond the Horizon: Corporate Reporting on Climate Change* (Center for Climate and EnergySolutions, September 2017); and Sullivan and Cromwell, LLP, *2019 Proxy Season Review, Part I: Rule 14a-8 Shareholder Proposals* (July2019).

Figure 5: Examples of Generic and Company-Specific Disclosures

Data Security **Personnel Management** How the company uses and protects consumer data. How the company recruits and retains personnel. Generic disclosure from 10-K Generic disclosure from annual report Although we have developed systems and processes that are By bringing together the beliefs, values and ideas that define an designed to protect our data and user data, to prevent data loss, to organization, a strong workplace culture creates a framework that disable undesirable accounts and activities on our platform, and to attracts and retains the right kind of talent. prevent or detect security breaches, we cannot assure you that Company-specific disclosure from sustainability report such measures will provide absolute security, and we may incur significant costs in protecting against or remediating cyber-attacks. To continue to attract and retain the best and most diverse people, we're creating a new holistic strategy to reimagine and redesign Company-specific disclosure from annual report the end-to-end employee experience. Feedback on the hiring experience from hiring managers, Human Resource Partners, A new technique invented at [company] ... allows us to train AI recruiters and applicants highlighted the need for greater visibility, models and make products smarter without raw data ever leaving improved speed, more relevant candidates and a simpler, more your device. [Company-specific program] can learn new words intuitive process. In response, we launched the [company-specific after thousands of people start using them, without us ever website] globally in 2018, providing data driven analytics and knowing what you're typing. In the future, AI advancements will innovative tools as the basis for a faster, transparent, more agile provide even more ways to make products more helpful with less process for managers to hire candidates. data.

Source: GAO analysis of company disclosures. | GAO-20-530

Note: We removed direct references to company names and company programs from these excerpts.

For 11 of the 16 narrative topics, among companies for which we identified disclosures on these topics, at least 75 percent disclosed company-specific information (see fig. 6). For certain topics, such as those related to companies' actions to add new directors to the board and promote diversity and inclusion, most companies disclosed information and nearly all of those companies reported company-specific information. In contrast, for other narrative topics, such as addressing data security risks and describing climate-related risks and opportunities, we identified company-specific information for less than two-thirds of disclosing companies. In addition, for one narrative topic, describing obstacles that might limit the company's ability to hire the talent it needs, less than one-third of disclosing companies reported company-specific information. We also found that disclosures we identified in companies' 10-K filings were less likely to be company-specific than those in the other three types of documents we reviewed.⁴¹

⁴¹More companies disclosed company-specific information than generic for three of 16 narrative topics in the 10-K. For the proxy statement, annual report, and sustainability report, those numbers were 12, 10, and 16 of 16, respectively.

Figure 6: Category of Disclosure on Certain Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Topics of Selected Companies, Generally Covering Data from 2018



Notes: We review ed32 selected companies' 2018 10-Ks, 2019 definitive proxy statements (w hich typically covered the same reporting period as the 2018 10-K), and 2018 annual reports (when different from the 10-K). We also review ed companies' most recent sustainability reports available on their w ebsites, accessed from July through December 2019. These documents generally contained data from 2018, but some contained data from 2017 and 2019. We categorized disclosures we identified in these documents as either company-specific (narrative specific to that company's risks or management activities) or generic (narrative that could broadly apply to many companies) for 16 narrative ESG topics.

Though most of the narrative ESG disclosures we reviewed contained company-specific details, these disclosures varied in the amount of detail

they provided about how a company manages ESG-related risks and opportunities (see fig. 7). In particular, some companies' disclosures included details about specific steps the company was taking to manage an ESG-related risk or opportunity and details about the results of such efforts, while others did not. To the extent that some companies provided more detailed disclosures, those companies' disclosures could be of greater usefulness to investors trying to understand the ESG risks facing a company or the steps the company was taking to manage ESG risks.

Figure 7: Examples of the Range of Detail in Company-Specific Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Disclosures

Board Accountability

Company actions to add new directors to the board.

Workforce Diversity

Company actions to promote diversity and inclusion.

Examples of company-specific disclosures that provided limited details about the specific steps the company took to address an ESG risk or opportunity.

Disclosure from company's proxy statement

Our Governance Committee believes that it is important to maintain a balance of tenure on the Board to benefit from the business, industry and governance experience of longer-serving directors; the fresh perspectives contributed by new directors; and the value of continuity as Board composition changes. Our Governance Committee approaches its task of recommending candidates for election or re-election with the goal of having a mix of directors with long, medium and short tenures on the Board. It therefore aims to have a measured rate of Board refreshment.

Disclosure from company's sustainability report

[The company's] Corporate Diversity Council sponsors the company's diversity and inclusion strategy by executing business-unit specific initiatives, which results in a diverse and inclusive culture where employees feel valued and motivated to do their best every day.

Examples of company-specific disclosures that described the specific steps the company took to address an ESG risk or opportunity but that did not describe the results of these efforts.

Disclosure from company's proxy statement

Directors are elected each year, at the Annual Meeting of Shareowners, to hold office until the next Annual Meeting and until their successors are elected and qualified... Furthermore, pursuant to our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Directors whose job responsibilities change or who reach the age of 74 are asked to submit a letter of resignation to the Board. These letters are considered by the Board and, if applicable, annually thereafter.

Disclosure from company's proxy statement

We have since added many new internal programs, including: [Program 1] and [Program 2]. [Program 1] trains managers to understand the issues that affect underrepresented communities and to actively solicit input from people who may feel excluded. [Program 2] gives everyone at [the company] the common language, tools, and space to identify when someone may be experiencing bias and to stand up in support of them.

Examples of company-specific disclosures that described the specific steps the company took to address an ESG risk or opportunity and that provided results of these efforts.

Disclosure from company's proxy statement

To promote thoughtful Board refreshment, we have: developed a comprehensive, ongoing Board succession planning process; implemented an annual Board and Committee assessment process; and adopted a policy in which no director may stand for election to the Board after reaching the age of 72. Eight of the 13 director nominees have joined since the beginning of 2014. The average age of our director nominees and 61.1 years, respectively. The average tenure of all our director nominees and our independent director nominees is 6.1 years and 6.6 years, respectively.

Disclosure from company's sustainability report

We launched bias training to provide our team with tools to recognize and manage bias and to understand how our similarities and differences can enhance our team and our business. We are taking a thoughtful approach to how we roll it out to our full organization. We started with taking 7,000 of our headquarters team members through a three-hour bias training session that equated to 21,000 hours of training. In addition, we are embedding bias training for our team members into regular training that they have throughout the year, as well as for new team members joining [the company].

Source: GAO analysis of company disclosures. | GAO-20-530

Note: We removed direct references to company names and company programs from these excerpts.
Differences in How Companies Reported Some Quantitative ESG Topics Could Limit Comparisons across Companies

We identified inconsistencies in how companies disclosed on some of our selected quantitative ESG topics, which may limit investors' ability to compare these disclosures across companies.⁴² Specifically, we found instances where companies defined terms differently or calculated similar information in different ways. We most frequently identified these inconsistencies in quantitative topics associated with climate change, personnel management, resource management, and workforce diversity. For quantitative topics related to data security, human rights, and occupational health and safety, five or fewer of the 32 companies in our sample disclosed information on these topics, limiting comparisons across companies.

As previously discussed, some investors told us that one of the reasons they seek additional ESG disclosures is because it is difficult to compare disclosures across companies. SEC also noted in a 2016 concept release that sought comment on modernizing certain disclosure requirements in Regulation S-K that consistent disclosure standards can increase the efficiency with which investors process the information.⁴³ Additionally, three of the most commonly used ESG disclosure frameworks—GRI, SASB, and TCFD—have a stated goal to help companies disclose information in a way that allows investors to compare information among companies.

Despite this focus on comparable reporting from investors, regulators, and standard-setters, we identified instances where companies reported certain quantitative metrics differently from one another for some ESG topics. For example, in workforce diversity disclosures, some companies reported their employee demographics using broad groupings, such as "minority" or "ethnically diverse," while others reported by specific racial or

⁴³Business and Financial Disclosure Required by Regulation S-K, 81 Fed. Reg. 23,916, 23,919 (Concept Release, Apr. 22, 2016).

⁴²Our review focused on disclosures for selected ESG topics. While inconsistencies also may exist in other disclosure areas that are not governed by commonly accepted standards, these areas were outside the scope of our study. We identified these inconsistencies through our review of public companies disclosures on ESG topics, which, as previouslymentioned, is not intended to be a comprehensive list of companies' ESG disclosures on our selected topics.

ethnic groups. Similarly, some companies defined greenhouse gas emissions differently. Most companies combined carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases when reporting emission data, but a few reported carbon dioxide emissions alone.

We also identified instances of companies using different calculation methods or units of measure when reporting information related to climate change and resource management. For example, companies used different base years when calculating their reduction in greenhouse gas emissions, limiting their comparability. Some companies reported reductions year-over-year, while many reported reductions over multiple years with no consistency within or across industries. For example, airline companies we reviewed reported emission reductions with base years ranging from 1990 to 2017. Similarly, when disclosing total water withdrawal, eight companies used metric units of measure while two companies used imperial units of measure.

Companies that used the same ESG framework did not always disclose on ESG topics in a consistent manner. Specifically, we identified the types of inconsistencies discussed above in quantitative disclosures among those companies using the GRI framework.⁴⁴ For example, we identified four different methods for reporting workforce diversity among companies that reported using the GRI framework to develop their disclosures. The GRI framework does not specify the method for reporting diversity information, as it does for certain other topics.

SEC Primarily Uses a Principles-Based Approach for Overseeing ESG Information and

⁴⁴We reviewed how those companies that reported using the GRI framework disclosed information on these topics because GRI was the disclosure framework companies reported using most frequently. Of the selected companies, 14 reported using the GRI framework and four companies reported using the SASB framework to disclose ESG information in their sustainability reports.

Has Taken Some Steps to Assess ESG Disclosures

SEC Provides Flexibility to Companies to Determine Whether ESG-Related Information Is Material and Should Be Disclosed

SEC staff generally use a principles-based approach to overseeing public companies' disclosures of nonfinancial information, including information on ESG topics.⁴⁵ Under this approach, SEC staff rely primarily on companies to determine what information is material and requires disclosure in their SEC filings, such as the 10-K filing.⁴⁶ SEC officials noted that companies are ultimately responsible for the disclosures they provide to investors, and they have liability for their disclosures under federal and state securities laws.⁴⁷ While federal securities laws generally do not specifically address the disclosure of ESG information, Regulation S-K's disclosure requirements for nonfinancial information apply to material ESG topics.

Corporation Finance officials noted that their reviews of public companies' 10-K filings are not a checklist review for compliance with securities regulations. Instead, these reviews are meant to identify and address potentially significant disclosure issues, such as nondisclosure of information that the Corporation Finance review team believes is material and therefore may influence an investor's investment decision. Some

⁴⁶As previously discussed, companies' disclosure of material information can include known trends, events, and uncertainties that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the company's financial condition or operating performance, as well as potential risks to investing in the company.

⁴⁷Public companies can face liability under securities laws for disclosing false or misleading statements or for omitting a material fact when inclusion of that fact is necessary to prevent a statement from being misleading.

⁴⁵Regulation S-K contains disclosure requirements that are applicable to the nonfinancial portion of public companies' 10-K filings to SEC. Principles-based disclosure requirements state an objective and look to management to exercise judgment in satisfying that objective by evaluating the significance of information to determine whether di sclosure is required. Regulation S-K also includes prescriptive disclosure requirements, such as costs of complying with environmental laws and regulations. As previouslymentioned, certain ESG topics such as board composition, executive compensation, and audit committee structure are specifically addressed in SEC's rules and regulations.

Corporation Finance review staff told us that in their reviews of public companies' 10-K filings they generally defer to companies' determinations about which ESG information is relevant to their business and should be disclosed. Review staff also generally said they perform company- and industry-specific research as part of their review, including company websites, web searches for news articles, and earnings calls that may identify material ESG information. In a January 2020 statement that addressed climate change and environmental disclosures, the SEC Chairman reiterated his view that SEC's approach to disclosure on these topics should continue to be rooted in materiality, including providing investors with insight regarding the company's assessments and plans for addressing material risks to its business operations. The Chairman's statement also noted that this approach is consistent with the Commission's ongoing commitment to ensure that current disclosures on these issues provide investors with a mix of information that facilitates well-informed capital-allocation decisions.48

Corporation Finance has provided its review staff with internal review guidance that highlights relevant issues to consider, while emphasizing the use of professional judgment when reviewing companies' 10-K and other filings. Staff use internal procedural guidance that provides steps for conducting and documenting reviews of filings. While this guidance does not include specific instructions for reviewing ESG disclosures, staff are instructed to conduct background research on companies and industries to determine if there is material information, such as potential risks, that may be relevant to a company's filing. As noted above, according to review staff, this company-specific research could include ESG information.

In addition, Corporation Finance has distributed internal review guidance on a few ESG-related topics. This guidance illustrates how existing disclosure requirements may apply to a given topic and offers information for staff to consider when conducting background research and performing filing reviews. In cases where the SEC review team identifies a potential disclosure deficiency related to an ESG or other topic, they may issue a comment letter to the company to request additional information or additional disclosures when necessary. Most review staff with whom we spoke said ESG-related information generally does not rise

⁴⁸"Proposed Amendments to Modernize and Enhance Financial Disclosures; Other Ongoing Disclosure Modernization Initiatives; Impact of the Coronavirus; Environmental and Climate-Related Disclosure," Chairman Jay Clayton (Jan. 30, 2020).

to the level of comment unless they identify material information during background research that may be relevant to the company's operations.

In April 2019, Corporation Finance reallocated responsibilities for reviewing nonfinancial information in 10-K filings, which also can include ESG information, from attorneys to accountants. Corporation Finance officials cited resource constraints, which reduced the number of attorneys within the Division, as a factor in this decision.⁴⁹ While review teams vary by industry group and company, attorneys previously held primary responsibility for reviewing nonfinancial disclosures, whereas accountants primarily reviewed financial statements and related disclosures in 10-K filings. SEC staff provided training to accountants on how to conduct these reviews, which outlined Regulation S-K reporting requirements for nonfinancial disclosures and highlighted areas for staff to consider in various sections of the 10-K. Two of six accounting review staff with whom we spoke noted that this training was thorough and said they refer to training materials when conducting 10-K filing reviews. Additionally, most accounting review staff told us they can consult legal staff within their industry offices during reviews as necessary. According to Corporation Finance officials, attorneys may still participate in reviews of 10-K filings.⁵⁰ Accounting staff also noted that they previously reviewed nonfinancial information within the context of financial disclosures as part of their financial reviews of 10-K filings.

SEC Took Steps to Assess Samples of Companies' ESG Disclosures and Identify Emerging Issues

Corporation Finance has conducted assessments of samples of public companies' 10-K filings to examine the amount and type of disclosure on selected ESG topics. Overall, Corporation Finance staff found that most sampled companies included disclosure of selected ESG topics within 10-K filings and told us they did not issue additional guidance or interpretive releases on these topics following these assessments.

⁴⁹SEC implemented a hiring freeze from fiscal years 2017 to 2019, and , according to Corporation Finance officials, experienced a decrease of more than 350 positions during this time.

⁵⁰According to Corporation Finance officials, the extent to which attorneys participate in 10-K filing reviews depends on the workload for each industryoffice. For example, because attorneys primarily focus on reviewing initial public offerings, attorneys may review fewer 10-Ks in industryoffices with a large volume of initial public offerings, according to Corporation Finance officials.

- Climate change disclosures: In 2012 and 2014, SEC staff issued mandated reports to the Senate Committee on Appropriations that assessed the compliance of climate change disclosures included in a sample of 60 companies' 10-K filings in selected industries. The Committee had required these reviews following SEC's issuance of its interpretive release on climate change disclosures in 2010. SEC staff found that most sampled companies included climate-related information within their 10-K filings with varying levels of detail. Since 2014, Corporation Finance has conducted additional internal assessments on these topics that have resulted in findings consistent with previous reviews.
- Additional ESG-related disclosures: In recent years, Corporation Finance staff conducted additional assessments of disclosures related to some ESG topics. These assessments involved staff reviewing the disclosures of a sample of companies' filings and evaluating compliance with disclosure requirements. Corporation Finance found that while the level of detail among disclosures varied, nearly all companies included the relevant ESG topic within their filings. Additionally, Corporation Finance staff outlined action items for the Division, such as providing comments to companies as appropriate and monitoring press reports for information that may be material for companies to disclose.

In addition to internal assessments, SEC has taken steps to identify significant emerging disclosure issues through the creation of the Office of Risk and Strategy within Corporation Finance. According to Corporation Finance officials, this office was created in February 2018 and was allocated additional resources in October 2019 to support its risk surveillance function, in which it identifies emerging issues that may be material for public companies by reviewing press articles, speeches, and information from other sources such as industry experts. According to Corporation Finance officials, once the office identifies an issue that may present material disclosure risks, it may perform research and analysis that can determine whether further internal or external guidance may be necessary. Corporation Finance officials also noted these efforts may result in additional guidance to review staff based on topics identified.

Policy Options to Enhance ESG Disclosures Range from Regulatory Actions to Private-Sector Approaches

Investors and market observers have proposed a range of policy options to improve the quality and usefulness of ESG disclosures.⁵¹ These options include legislative or regulatory action to require or encourage certain ESG disclosure practices, as well as private-sector approaches, such as industry-developed frameworks and stock-exchange listing requirements.

These policy options can pose important trade-offs in relation to the extent to which they impose specific new disclosure requirements or encourage companies to voluntarily adopt certain ESG disclosure practices. For example, while new ESG-related requirements may help achieve greater comparability in ESG disclosures across companies and reduce investor demands on public companies, voluntary approaches may provide more flexibility to companies while limiting potential costs associated with disclosing ESG information that may not be relevant for their business.

Legislative or Regulatory Actions

Some institutional investors and market observers have proposed new legislative or regulatory requirements to enhance public companies' ESG disclosures. These actions could take the form of new requirements for specific ESG disclosures, a new SEC regulation that endorses the use of an ESG disclosure framework, or new SEC interpretive releases on ESG disclosure topics.

Issue-Specific Rulemaking

Some market observers have recommended that SEC issue new rules requiring issue-specific ESG disclosures, such as disclosures related to

⁵¹As previously mentioned, we interviewed 14 institutional investors (seven private asset management firms and seven public pension funds) and 13 groups and organizations that we refer to as market observers in this report.

climate change.⁵² For example, one investor association said that it has supported various petitions and requests for rulemaking at SEC on environmental and human capital issues. SEC has taken steps to consider these types of issue-specific ESG disclosures. For example, in August 2019, SEC proposed including disclosure topics related to human capital resources and management in the description of business section of Regulation S-K.⁵³ The rule has not been finalized, but in comment letters to SEC on the proposed rule, some organizations requested more line-item disclosures and metrics on this topic.⁵⁴

As previously mentioned, most investors told us they seek comparable information across companies, which line-item disclosure requirements may facilitate. Increasing comparability across companies also may reduce investor demands on companies, which have been increasing the

Gender Pay Gap Disclosure Requirements in the United Kingdom (UK)

In 2017, the UK required issue-specific disclosure rules for large companies to report the difference in average pay for male and female employees, according to a report by the UK House of Commons' Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy Committee. An intended benefit of gender pay gap disclosure is achieving greater equity in pay by gender and improved economic performance among UK companies, according to this committee report. How ever. the committee found in its 2018 review of this reporting that some companies w ere unsure how to account for alternative compensation, such as child care vouchers and bonuses, and that additional guidance was necessary to help companies standardize their disclosures. The committee's report also recommended that the government mandate narrative disclosures where companies explain their action plan for closing any gender pay gap they may have.

Source: UK House of Commons, Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy Committee, *Gender Pay Gap Reporting*, Thirteenth Report of Session 2017–2019 (July 2018). | GAO-20-530

⁵²We identified several bills recently introduced in the House and Senate that would require certain companies to disclose additional ESG information. These bills include disclosures on a variety of issues such as information regarding sexual harassment claims, financial and business risks associated with climate change, and the racial, ethnic, and gender composition of the board of directors and executives. As of May 2020, none of these bills had become law.

⁵³See 84 Fed. Reg. 44,358 (proposed Aug. 23, 2019).

⁵⁴Other organizations commented, cautioning against line-item disclosures for several reasons, including those discussed later, such as costs to companies or lack of flexibility.

last 5 years, according to most companies with whom we spoke.⁵⁵ Additionally, requiring ESG disclosures in companies' regulatory filings rather than across multiple locations—could reduce information disparities between large and small investors, because the information would be located in a single place that was readily available to everyone. For example, some third-party data providers, which compile ESG information from various sources, may be prohibitively expensive to individual investors and small advisors, according to a study commissioned by the Department of Labor.⁵⁶

One impediment to improved ESG disclosures that some institutional investors, companies, and market observers with whom we spoke cited was the lack of consensus around what information companies should be disclosing. Focusing on issue-specific ESG disclosure rules could allow SEC to enhance disclosures on the most pressing issues that may have more consensus, according to two academics we interviewed. As previously discussed, our review found that several ESG factors were commonly disclosed by companies across industries, including board accountability, climate change, and workforce diversity.

On the other hand, regulatory requirements that necessitate new or additional disclosures may increase compliance costs for companies. None of the 18 companies with whom we spoke had quantified the costs associated with their ESG reporting. However, companies generally said that collecting and reporting ESG information required input from employees across the company. Three companies said ESG reporting represented an increasing opportunity cost as employees spent more time on reporting and away from business activities. Data not used in regular business operations or data that required outside assurance were the most costly disclosures, according to some companies.

In addition, some market observers have noted that issue-specific rules can become outdated as issues evolve and that these types of disclosures would reduce flexibility for companies. Line-item or issuespecific disclosures also may not be relevant for all companies, possibly resulting in large volumes of immaterial information. According to one

⁵⁵As previously mentioned, we interviewed representatives from 18 of our nongeneralizable sample of 32 public companies.

⁵⁶Summit Consulting, LLC, *Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Investment Tools: A Review of the Current Field*, a report prepared at the request of the Chief Evaluation Office, Department of Labor, December 2017.

academic, compelling companies to disclose on issues that may not be relevant to them could distract companies from using resources on the relevant disclosures.

Endorse an ESG Framework in Regulation

Other market observers recommended that SEC issue a new rule endorsing one or more comprehensive ESG reporting frameworks, such as SASB or GRI, for companies' reporting of material ESG issues. SEC has required the use of frameworks in other rulemakings, such as rules related to companies' evaluation and disclosure of their internal controls. For that rule, SEC endorsed the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) Framework as satisfying regulatory requirements.⁵⁷ In its evaluation of several countries' reporting policies, the United Nations Environment Programme recommended regulators use existing international standards and guidelines when developing sustainability reporting policies.⁵⁸

Regulations that endorse one or more frameworks could maintain flexibility for companies, because companies could choose which parts of the framework are relevant to their businesses. In addition, frameworks can be updated over time without necessitating new rulemaking in contrast to issue-specific requirements that could become outdated. Some institutional investors and companies with whom we spoke noted the importance of flexibility if there were to be any new regulation for ESG disclosures. Additionally, frameworks could encourage companies to disclose on a wide range of ESG issues. Most investors told us they focused on a broad array of ESG issues in their analyses.

⁵⁷See Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Certification of Disclosure in Exchange Act Periodic Reports, 68 Fed. Reg. 36,636,36,642 (June 18, 2003).

⁵⁸United Nations Environment Programme, *Evaluating National Policies on Corporate Sustainab ility Reporting* (2015).

European Union Directive Endorsement of ESG Frameworks

A 2014 European Union directive that endorsed companies' use of existing framew orks to report how they manage social and environmental challenges has needed several updates to improve comparability across companies, according to a report by the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA). In 2017 and 2019, the European Commission issued voluntary guidelines for the directive that encouraged companies to use an established disclosure framework to make nonfinancial information easier to report and compare, according to ESMA. How ever, respondents to a 2019 survey by ESMA said that among other obstacles, the lack of specificity in the directive's requirements and the use of various frameworks contributed to a lack of comparability among companies environmental, social, and governance (ESG) disclosures. As a result, ESMA recommended the European Commission amend the directive to include both general principles for reporting ESG information as well as a set of specific, universal disclosures.

Source: European Securities and Markets Authority, *Report: Undue Short-Term Pressure on Corporations* (December 2019). | GAO-20-530 However, companies reporting based on different frameworks may limit comparability across companies, and there was not consensus on which framework companies should use. While some institutional investors told us they supported SASB's framework, investors also mentioned other frameworks such as GRI, TCFD, and CDP. In a 2019 survey of 46 global institutional investors, a consulting firm found that agreeing on ESG standards that are relevant to companies' performance was a challenge.⁵⁹ Additionally, the Chamber of Commerce noted that companies said in roundtable discussions that the lack of universally accepted ESG reporting standards was a major challenge to effective ESG reporting.⁶⁰ There have been initiatives recently to standardize ESG frameworks found that there were already high levels of agreement between climate change disclosures standards and that standard-setting organizations needed to more clearly communicate how their standards were interconnected.⁶²

Additionally, companies reporting under a framework may choose not to disclose certain ESG information, which could result in less comparability. As previously discussed, among the company disclosures we reviewed, we identified instances of calculation inconsistency among quantitative disclosures for companies that reported information according to GRI—the most prevalent reporting framework in our sample—because GRI does not always include prescriptive disclosure recommendations and sometimes allows for different calculation methods.

SEC Interpretative Releases

Some institutional investors and companies with which we spoke indicated that additional SEC interpretative releases addressing how ESG topics fit within existing disclosure requirements could be helpful. These

⁵⁹Morrow Sodali, Institutional Investor Survey 2019.

⁶⁰U.S. Chamber of Commerce Foundation and the Chamber's Center for Capital Markets Competitiveness, *Corporate Sustainability Reporting: Past, Present, and Future* (November 2018).

⁶¹For example, in 2019, the World Economic Forum International Business Council—an organization of approximately 120 large multinational companies—launched a project to create a standard set of metrics for ESG reporting. The project partnered with four large accounting firms and published a proposed set of metrics in January 2020. World Economic Forum, *Toward Common Metrics and Consistent Reporting of Sustainable Value Creation* (January 2020).

⁶²Corporate Reporting Dialogue, *Driving Alignment in Climate-Related Reporting,* Year One of the Better Alignment Project (September 2019).

releases can highlight the importance of ESG disclosures without requiring a rule change, because they clarify without changing the existing disclosure requirements. Some investors and SEC review staff said that interpretive releases serve as a good reminder for companies to consider ESG issues in their disclosures. Interpretive releases also maintain flexibility for companies to disclose the information that is material for each company. However, two market observers noted that because these releases do not create new disclosure requirements, they may not have much impact on ESG disclosures on their own.

About half of the companies told us previous SEC releases had been helpful, but most investors said disclosures on these issues remain inconsistent. Eight of 18 companies said SEC's previous releases on climate change and cybersecurity had helped create an even playing field for companies or underscored the need for more transparency on these issues, among other things. However, two investors and one international organization noted that the release on climate change did not appear to expand disclosure of climate change risk among U.S. companies. As previously discussed, SEC staff reviewed samples of company's disclosures on climate change and found that most sampled companies included climate-related information within their 10-K filings with varying levels of detail. As a result, SEC staff decided against recommending that the Commission issue additional releases.

Private-Sector Approaches

Some institutional investors, companies, and market observers have cautioned against legislative and regulatory intervention in ESG disclosures and have recommended private-sector approaches to improve companies' ESG disclosures. One advantage of private-sector approaches is that because they are voluntary, they provide companies with flexibility. Some investors and companies said flexibility was important in ESG reporting because the relevance of ESG issues can vary by company and change over time. Conversely, because ESG disclosures remain voluntary under these approaches, companies may choose not to use them in their reporting. Private-sector approaches could include industry-developed frameworks and stock exchange listing requirements.

Industry-Developed Frameworks

Some market observers with whom we spoke recommended that industries develop their own industry-specific ESG framework. For example, Edison Electric Institute and the American Gas Association partnered to develop standards to guide electric and natural gas companies' ESG reporting. According to the American Gas Association, the framework was created to provide the financial sector with more uniform and consistent ESG data and information.⁶³ SASB's framework also provides industry-specific standards, covering 77 different industries.

Industry-specific standards focus on ESG issues that industry representatives believe are relevant to that industry. Some investors, companies, and market observers said that ESG issues vary by industry and therefore industry-specific standards are preferred. As previously discussed, we identified some differences in the amount of disclosures on specific ESG topics between industries. Agreed-upon industry-specific standards provide consensus across various stakeholders and provide comparability of ESG disclosures across companies, according to some market observers, which also may reduce investor demands on companies.

One disadvantage of relying on industries to create standards is that some industries may be diverse and unable to find consensus on standards. For example, two companies told us that their unique business model does not fit into one industry group. Company and trade association interests also may conflict with those of investors and other stakeholders. According to two academics with whom we spoke, individual companies do not have an incentive to work towards standardized ESG reporting standards and will not do so on their own.

Stock Exchange Listing Requirements

In some countries, stock exchanges have used ESG disclosure listing requirements to try to improve companies' disclosures. The United States has several stock exchanges that list publicly traded companies, and none have extensive ESG disclosure listing requirements. NASDAQ produces a voluntary ESG reporting guide for companies and the New York Stock Exchange, as a subsidiary of the Intercontinental Exchange,

⁶³IPIECA, the American Petroleum Institute, and the International Association of Oil and Gas Producers also developed guidance for the oil and gas industryon voluntary ESG reporting.

has declared its support for ESG disclosures of its listed companies, but neither requires such ESG reporting to be listed on its exchange.

ESG reporting endorsements from stock exchanges has been shown to accelerate the adoption of integrated reporting in other countries,

Johannesburg and Tokyo Stock Exchange Listing Requirements

Stock exchanges in Japan and South Africa are examples where listing requirements have been implemented to improve public companies' environmental, social, and governance (ESG) reporting in those countries. According to officials from Japan's Financial Services Agency, listing requirements on the Tokyo Stock Exchange have helped change how Japanese companies disclose ESG-related information and engage in proactive risk management. Similarly, officials from the Johannesburg Stock Exchange said that its listing requirements have had a positive impact on companies' integrated reporting, w hich includes ESG information. How ever, these officials stated that other factors also have contributed to the increase in integrated reporting in South Africa. These include an understanding by local companies of how ESG factors affect their day-to-day operations and increased investor interest in ESG disclosures. According to research comparing integrated reporting in 10 countries, a number of factors contributed to South African companies high-quality integrated reports, including a framew ork for integrated reporting developed by a local nonprofit organization to assist companies in meeting the listing requirements.

Source: GAO interviews with stock exchange and government officials and Robert G. Eccles, Michael P. Krzus, and Carlos Solano, A Comparative Analysis of Integrated Reporting in Ten Countries (March 2019). | GAO-20-530 according to two industry studies.⁶⁴ One third-party data provider noted that listing requirements provide an incentive—listing on the exchange—for companies to report on ESG issues. However, competition between U.S. stock exchanges could give companies alternative listing opportunities if one stock exchange enacted ESG disclosure listing requirements. According to officials from the Johannesburg Stock Exchange, as commercial entities, stock exchanges may choose to avoid imposing mandatory listing requirements on companies because they would risk losing listings that generate revenue to other exchanges or discouraging companies from listing publicly.

Finally, some institutional investors, companies, and market observers noted that it was too early to prescribe standards for ESG disclosures, because there is not consensus among companies, investors, and market observers on which ESG issues should be disclosed. The marketplace should be given time to resolve these issues, according to these market participants and observers. Government officials in the United Kingdom and Japan and industry association representatives from South Africa noted that increased investor interest prompted more meaningful ESG disclosures from companies in their countries. However, they said that nonfinancial reporting requirements can be a catalyst for changing attitudes towards ESG disclosures.

Agency Comments

We provided a draft of this report to SEC for review and comment. SEC provided written comments that are reprinted in appendix II. SEC also provided technical comments, which we incorporated as appropriate.

In its written comments, SEC generally concurred with our findings and stated that our report will contribute to the ongoing discussion around ESG disclosures among public companies, investors, and policy makers.

⁶⁴KPMG, *The Road Ahead: The KPMG Survey of Corporate Responsibility Reporting* 2017 (October 2017); and Sustainable Stock Exchanges, 10 Years of Impact and *Progress: Sustainable Stock Exchanges* 2009–2019 (September 2019).

SEC also highlighted some of its related activities, such as issuing interpretive releases on climate change and cybersecurity and soliciting public comments on disclosure requirements. In addition, SEC reiterated its commitment to materiality as the foundational principle for public company disclosure requirements.

As agreed with your office, unless you publicly announce the contents of this report earlier, we plan no further distribution until 4 days from the report date. At that time, we will send copies of this report to the appropriate congressional committees, the Chairman of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and other interested parties. In addition, the report will be available at no charge on the GAO website at https://www.gao.gov.

If you or your staff have any questions about this report, please contact me at (202) 512-8678 or clementsm@gao.gov. Contact points for our Offices of Congressional Relations and Public Affairs may be found on the last page of this report. GAO staff who made key contributions to this report are listed in appendix III.

Sincerely yours,

Clements

Michael Clements Director, Financial Markets and Community Investment

Appendix I: Objectives, Scope, and Methodology

This report examines (1) why and how investors have sought additional environmental, social, and governance (ESG) disclosures; (2) how public companies' disclosures of selected ESG factors have compared within and across selected industries; (3) steps the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) staff have taken to assess the effectiveness of the agency's efforts to review the disclosure of material ESG factors; and (4) the advantages and disadvantages of policy options that investors and market observers have proposed to improve ESG disclosures.

Why and How Investors Have Sought Additional ESG Disclosures

To obtain information about why and how investors have sought additional ESG disclosures, we reviewed relevant reports and studies by academics, investment firms, and others published in the last 5 years. We identified these reports and studies through interviewing investors and market observers, reviewing sources cited in documents we obtained, and conducting internet searches. These reports and studies provided investor perspectives on issues related to ESG disclosures, including how investors use ESG disclosures, the types of ESG disclosures investors seek from companies, and investors' use of shareholder proposals to request ESG information.

In addition, we selected a nongeneralizable sample of 14 institutional investors and conducted semi-structured interviews with them to obtain information and perspectives on how and to what extent they incorporate ESG information into their investment decisions, why they do or do not incorporate ESG information, and why and how they engage with companies around these disclosures. Institutional investors include public and private entities that pool funds on behalf of others and invest the funds in securities and other investment assets. For our sample, we selected private-sector asset management firms and public pension funds of varying size:

- four large private asset management firms (each with more than \$1 trillion in worldwide assets under management as of December 31, 2018);
- three mid-sized private asset management firms (each with from \$500 billion to \$1 trillion in worldwide assets under management as of December 31, 2018);
- three large public pension funds (each with more than \$100 billion in total assets as of September 30, 2018); and
- four mid-sized public pension funds (each with from \$40 billion to \$100 billion in total assets as of September 30, 2018).¹

To get a mix of regional perspectives, we incorporated geographic location into our selection when possible. For example, we selected at least one of the seven public pension funds from each of four U.S. census regions (Northeast, South, Midwest, and West). The information collected from this sample of institutional investors cannot be generalized to the larger population of all institutional investors.

To obtain information about the extent to which investors have used shareholder proposals to promote improved ESG disclosures, we analyzed proposals submitted to a stratified random sample of 100 companies listed as of October 4, 2019, on the S&P Composite 1500, which combines three indices—the S&P 500, the S&P MidCap 400, and the S&P SmallCap 600 (see table 4). For our sample, we refer to companies appearing in the S&P 500 as large, companies in the S&P MidCap 400 as mid-sized, and companies in the S&P SmallCap 600 as small. With this probability sample, each company on the S&P Composite 1500 had a nonzero probability of being included, and that probability could be computed for any company. We stratified the population into three groups on the basis of company size, and each sample element was subsequently weighted in the analysis to account statistically for all the members of the population, including those that were not selected. All sample estimates in this report are presented along with their 95 percent confidence intervals.

¹In this report, we refer to asset management firms in the private sector as "private" to differentiate them from public pension funds. Our sample of these asset man agement firms includes firms that are publicly traded.

Table 4: Stratified Random Sample of Companies for Review of Shareholder Proposals

Company size	S&P index (market capitalization range)	Number of companies in index	Number of companies selected for sample
Large	S&P 500 (\$8.2 billion or greater)	505	34
Mid-sized	S&P MidCap 400 (\$2.4 billion to \$8.2 billion)	401	27
Small	S&P SmallCap 600 (\$600 million to \$2.4 billion)	601	39
Total	S&P Composite 1500 (\$600 million or greater)	1,507	100

Source: GAO analysis. | GAO-20-530

Notes: Market capitalization is the total dollar market value of all of a company's outstanding shares. The market capitalization ranges and number of companies included in each S&P index are based on the value and membership of these indices as of October 4, 2019.

For each company in our sample, we obtained and reviewed its definitive proxy statement for the annual meeting that took place in calendar year 2019 to identify shareholder proposals.² Using a data collection instrument, we analyzed each shareholder proposal submitted to a company in our sample to determine if it was related to ESG disclosures, what type of ESG disclosure it was requesting (environmental, social, or governance), and what type of investor (such as individual, labor union, or pension fund) requested the proposal. For any company in our sample that disclosed one or more shareholder proposals in its definitive proxy statement, we obtained and reviewed the company's 8-K that included the number of votes each proposal received at the company's annual meeting.³ We then calculated the percentage of votes in favor of the proposal, using the number of votes shareholders cast in favor of the proposal divided by the sum of votes cast in favor, against, and to abstain. We downloaded these SEC filings from its online Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval (EDGAR) system.

²Definitive proxy statements are the final version of proxy statements that public companies are required to file with SEC and provide to shareholders prior to certain shareholder meetings.

³In addition to filing annual and quarterly filings with SEC, public companies must file an 8 - K to announce major events that shareholders should know about, including the voting results for shareholder proposals presented at the annual meeting.

How Selected Public Companies' ESG Disclosures Compared within and across Industries

To compare public companies' ESG disclosures within and across industries, we identified and analyzed disclosures related to eight ESG factors by 32 large and mid-sized public companies across eight industries. First, we judgmentally selected eight ESG factors by reviewing ESG factors frequently cited by a range of market observers (such as ESG standard-setting organizations, academics, nonprofits, and international organizations) as being important to investors or possibly material for companies in several industries and through discussions with market observers, including two ESG standard-setting organizations and one investor association. We selected eight factors that were among the most frequently cited, including at least two from each of the three categories of ESG (environmental, social, and governance). The eight ESG factors we selected were (1) climate change, (2) resource management (water and energy), (3) human rights, (4) occupational health and safety, (5) personnel management, (6) workforce diversity, (7) board accountability, and (8) data security.

We then judgmentally selected 33 specific topics to represent company disclosures on the eight ESG factors. Among these 33 specific topics, we selected 16 narrative disclosure topics that companies can address by providing a narrative discussion of ESG-related risks and opportunities and their management of them and 17 quantitative disclosure topics that companies can address by providing numbers and percentages. We selected these topics by reviewing four ESG disclosure frameworks and identifying commonly occurring disclosure topics associated with the selected ESG factors.⁴ For a list of the ESG factors and topics we selected, see figure 1 in the body of the report.

We then selected a nongeneralizable sample of 32 large and mid-sized public companies to review their disclosures on the eight ESG factors and 33 ESG topics. First, we judgmentally selected eight industries from which to select public companies. We identified industries that were likely to disclose information on the selected ESG factors; had multiple

⁴The four frameworks we reviewed were those published by the Global Reporting Initiative, Sustainability Accounting Standards Board, Task Force on Climate -Related Financial Disclosures, and Investor Stewardship Group. These four frameworks are composed of single-issue categories that contain several specific disclosure topics related to that issue. For example, the Global Reporting Initiative's energy category includes specific disclosure topics on energy consumption and energy reduction for a company.

companies included in the S&P 500; and, when taken together, represented a diverse range of industry sectors. The eight industries we selected were (1) airlines, (2) beverages, (3) biotechnology and pharmaceuticals, (4) commercial banks, (5) consumer retail, (6) electric utilities, (7) internet media and services, and (8) oil and gas production. We used industry classifications from the Standard Industrial Classification system, which SEC's Division of Corporation Finance uses as a basis for assigning review responsibilities for industry groups.⁵

We then selected four public companies within each of these eight industries for a total of 32 companies. We selected four companies per industry that were among the eight largest in terms of market capitalization and that, when considered collectively within industries, provided representation across different U.S. regions. We limited our selection to U.S. public companies that were traded on either of the two largest American stock exchanges. The information collected from this sample of public companies cannot be generalized to the larger population of all public companies.

We reviewed recent regulatory filings for these companies and voluntary reports, such as corporate social responsibility reports, to identify relevant disclosures on the selected ESG topics. We reviewed companies' 2018 10-Ks, 2019 definitive proxy statements (which typically covered the same reporting period as the 2018 10-K), and 2018 annual reports (when different from the 10-K).⁶ We also reviewed companies' most recent sustainability reports available on their websites, accessed from July through December 2019.⁷ We defined a sustainability report as a voluntary, stand-alone document that provided information on sustainability and other issues related to environmental, social, and

⁵The Standard Industrial Classification was developed by the U.S. government in the 1930s to consolidate various government classification schemes and to facilitate the comparison of industrial data. This classification system is also used for company filings in SEC's EDGAR database.

⁶Companies are required to send an annual report to their shareholders or post the report on their websites before an annual meeting to elect directors. Some companies choose to use their 10-K as their annual report and do not provide separate annual reports. We reviewed annual reports that were distinct from companies' 10-Ks. Of our selected companies, 21 published annual reports separate from their 10-Ks.

⁷The reporting year for these sustainability reports were 2017 (three companies), 2017 – 2018 (three companies), 2018 (16 companies), or 2018–2019 (three companies). Seven companies did not have sustainability reports available on their websites.

governance factors. Companies can use other means to report ESG information, such as their websites or issue-specific company reports. We did not include single-issue documents or information included on websites that was not also part of the sustainability report.⁸ There are several reasons why a company may not disclose information on a specific ESG topic; for example, the topic may not be relevant to its business operations or the company may not consider it to have a significant enough impact on its financial performance to warrant disclosure.

To identify relevant disclosures, we searched each document for a list of keywords related to each of the eight ESG factors to help identify passages likely to contain ESG disclosures on the 33 specific ESG topics. We selected these keywords by reviewing the 33 topics we selected and identifying unique terms associated with them. We categorized each narrative disclosure as being generic or company-specific.⁹ We categorized a narrative disclosure as company-specific if it included details about how ESG-related risks and opportunities affect the company's specific operations or how the company manages these risks or opportunities. Otherwise, we characterized the narrative disclosure as generic. Generic narrative disclosures are disclosures that could apply to the reporting company as well as to many of its peers. We considered each disclosure as a whole and, if it provided some company-specific information, we categorized the disclosure as company-specific.

In addition, we conducted semi-structured interviews with representatives of 18 of the 32 selected companies to obtain their perspectives on how they determine what ESG information to disclose, where to disclose it, and the benefits and challenges of ESG reporting. We requested interviews with all 32 of the selected companies, but eight companies declined and six companies did not respond to our request. For those that did not respond, we made at least three requests by email. We interviewed at least one company from each of the selected industries. Furthermore, through the semi-structured interviews with investors described above, we obtained investors' perspectives on characteristics of ESG disclosures that may limit their usefulness to investors.

⁸An example of a single-issue report would be a document that focused solelyon an electric utility's methane emissions and did not discuss other ESG factors.

⁹We considered quantitative disclosures to be inherently company-specific.

SEC Staff Efforts Related to the Disclosure of Material ESG Factors

To understand SEC's current regulatory framework for overseeing public companies' disclosures, we reviewed relevant laws and regulations, such as Regulation S-K and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.¹⁰ To review SEC's efforts related to ESG disclosures, we reviewed relevant SEC policies and procedures, such as internal guidance and SEC's interpretive releases to public companies on climate change and cybersecurity disclosures. We also reviewed SEC's 2012 and 2014 reports on climate change disclosures to the U.S. Senate Committee on Appropriations.¹¹ We reviewed additional internal SEC assessments on selected ESGrelated topics to obtain information on steps taken by SEC to review ESG disclosures. To obtain information on how staff conduct reviews of annual 10-K filings and ESG information, we interviewed SEC officials from the Division of Corporation Finance and a nongeneralizable sample of 15 review staff from the same division (six attorneys, six accountants, and three office chiefs). For our sample, we judgmentally selected staff in industry groups in accordance with those selected for our sample of public companies and with varying levels of tenure at SEC. The information collected from this sample of SEC review staff cannot be generalized to the larger population of all SEC review staff.

Policy Options to Improve ESG Disclosures

To identify relevant policy proposals to improve ESG disclosures, we reviewed reports and public statements from investors, ESG standardsetting organizations, and other groups that provided their perspectives on the current state of ESG disclosures and potential policy proposals, including advantages and disadvantages of these proposals. For example, we reviewed letters submitted by various groups to SEC in response to its 2016 request for public comment on possible changes to regulation S-K, as well as press releases by large asset management

¹⁰Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. Pt. 229; Sarbanes-OxleyAct of 2002, Pub. L. No. 107-204, 116 Stat. 745 (2002).

¹¹Senate Committee on Appropriations reports accompanying Financial Services and General Government Appropriations bills for fiscal years 2012 and 2013 directed SEC to submit reports to the Committee on the quality of public company disclosures about climate change-related matters. See S. Rep. No. 112-79, at 111 (2011); S. Rep. No. 112-177, at 109 (2012). SEC submitted to the Committee reports on climate change disclosures in 2012 and 2014, within the 90 day time frames specified in the reports.

firms. We conducted searches of government and academic literature for research on ESG disclosures from the previous 5 years. We searched the internet and various databases, such as ProQuest Newsstand Professional and Scopus. Using broad search terms, we identified articles related to our research objectives that provided useful context and discussion topics for interviews with market observers, investors, and companies. We also identified relevant reports and studies through investor and market observer interviews, by reviewing sources cited in documents we obtained, and through internet searches.

In addition, we reviewed reports and studies on international ESG disclosure requirements to identify and obtain information about relevant policy approaches implemented in other countries. We interviewed government officials in the United Kingdom and Japan and stock exchange and industry association representatives from South Africa to obtain their perspectives on the quality of ESG disclosures in their countries and the advantages and disadvantages of their current ESG disclosure laws and policies. We selected these countries for interviews because each had implemented one or more of the ESG policies that had been discussed as potential policy proposals by investors and market observers in the United States. Finally, we interviewed a nongeneralizable sample of 13 market observers selected to represent a range of stakeholders, including ESG standard-setting organizations, academics, and representatives of industry and investor groups, to obtain their perspectives on issues and policy options related to ESG disclosures.¹² We selected these market observers through studies and reports of companies ESG disclosures that identified leading observers with subject matter expertise and through referrals obtained during interviews for this study. We also used information obtained from our interviews with investors and companies to inform our analysis for this objective.

We conducted this performance audit from January 2019 to July 2020 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our

¹²To characterize investor, company, SEC review staff, and market observer views throughout the report, we consistently defined modifiers to quantify the views of each group as follows: "nearlyall" represents 80–99 percent of the group, "most" represents 50–79 percent of the group, and "some" represents 20–49 percent of the group. The number of interviews each modifier represents differs based on the number of interviews in that grouping: 14 institutional investors, 18 public companies, 15 SEC review staff, and 13 market observers.

findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Appendix II: Comments from the Securities and Exchange Commission

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 CMXXX OFFICE OF THE CHAIRMAN June 5, 2020 Michael Clements Director Financial Markets and Community Investment U.S. Government Accountability Office 441 G Street, NW Washington, DC 20548 Dear Mr. Clements: Thank you for the opportunity to review the draft report, "Public Companies Disclosure of Environmental, Social, and Governance Factors and Options to Enhance Them." We appreciate your thorough, balanced and well-researched approach to this broad, complex and evolving topic. I believe the report will contribute significantly to the ongoing dialogue among public companies, their investors, and policy makers. The Commission's approach to these issues is largely rooted in materiality. As you have made clear, our principles-based disclosure regime emphasizes materiality and is focused on requiring public companies to provide information that a reasonable investor would consider important in making informed investment and voting decisions. This approach is time-tested over 85 years ago, Congress set forth materiality as the foundational principle underlying public company disclosure requirements. This approach has served investors and our capital markets well over the intervening decades as our economy and our markets have evolved and I firmly believe it can be trusted to serve us in the decades to come. I appreciate your recognition of the ongoing commitment of the Commission and its staff to a range of disclosure matters that can be characterized as environmental, social or governance. I have personally spoken on these issues on a number of occasions.¹ As you note, the Commission and SEC staff have been working to clarify the disclosure obligations of public companies as they relate to matters falling into one or more of these categories for over a decade. In 2010 and 2018, the Commission issued guidance explaining how existing disclosure requirements apply to climate-related and cybersecurity matters, respectively. Division staff considers climate-related and cybersecurity issues, among other relevant issues, as part of the Division's selective review program and periodically conducts targeted disclosure reviews of companies for which it believes such a review will be most relevant. ¹ See, e.g., Chairman Jay Clayton, Remarks to the SEC Investor Advisory Committee (Nov. 7, 2019), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/public-statement/clayton-remarks-investor-advisory-committee-110719; Chairman Jay Clayton, Remarks to the SEC Investor Advisory Committee (Dec. 13, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/public-statement/clayton-remarks-investor-advisory-committee-meeting-121318.

Mr. Michael Clements Page 2 The Commission has also solicited public comment on a number of our disclosure requirements as part of our disclosure effectiveness initiative. These solicitations of comment have had tangible impacts on a number of rulemaking initiatives, including the adoption of final rules relating to pay ratio in 2015 and the recent proposed changes to address disclosures about human capital in 2019. Equally important to these efforts is our ongoing consideration of the actions of other regulatory bodies and standard setters, as well as the recommendations of a range of public interest groups and advisory committees. I am committed to continuing the ongoing engagement of the Commission and its staff with market participants on disclosure issues generally, including matters that can be characterized as environmental, social or governance matters. Thank you for the consideration your staff has shown during this engagement and for the opportunity to share my views. Sincerely, Vy Che Jay Clayton Chairman

Appendix III: GAO Contact and Staff Acknowledgments

GAO Contact

Michael Clements at (202) 512-8678 or clementsm@gao.gov.

Staff Acknowledgments

In addition to the contact named above, John Fisher (Assistant Director), Katherine Carter (Analyst in Charge), Emily Bond, Rachel DeMarcus, David Dornisch, Justin Fisher, Christopher Lee, Elizabeth Leibinger, Efrain Magallan, Adam Martyn, Patricia Powell, Jena Sinkfield, Tyler Spunaugle, Winnie Tsen, and Jack Wang made key contributions to this report.

Appendix IV: Accessible Data

Data Tables

Accessible Data for The Four Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Disclosure Topics GAO Reviewed with the Most and Least Company-Specific Disclosures, Generally Covering Data from 2018

ESG topics	Number of companies developing company- specific information	Number of companies disclosing (not company- specific)	Number of companies not disclosing
Manages potential conflicts of interest for board members	32	0	0
Incorporates shareholder input in board nominations	30	0	2
Adds new directors to its board	29	0	3
Promotes diversity and inclusion	27	1	4
Takes actions to prevent and address discrimination	13	4	15
Uses and protects consumer data	12	11	9
Describes obstacles to hiring	7	19	6
Identifies operations that might endanger human rights	5	1	26

Accessible Data for Figure 2: Number of Companies for Which Our Review Identified Disclosure on Certain Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Factors and Topics, Generally Covering Data from 2018

ESG factors	Number of companies	
Board accountability	32	
Resourcemanagement	32	
Data security	31	
Personnelmanagement	31	
Climate change	30	
Workforce diversity	29	
Occupational health and safety	25	
Humanrights	22	

Most disclosed topics	Number of companies
Companyactions to avoid conflicts of interest among board members	32
Number of independent board members (metric)	32
How the companyidentifies and addresses data security risks	31
Companyactions to incorporate shareholder preferences in board nominations	30
Companyactions to add new directors to the board	29
How the company recruits and retains personnel	28
Companyactions to promote diversity and inclusion	28

Least disclosed topics	Number of companies
Identification of company operations that might endanger human rights	6
Hours of health and safety training for employees (metric)	5
Number of human rights reviews of operations performed by the company (metric)	4
Number of data security incidents (metric)	2
Number of human rights infringements identified by the company (metric)	2

Accessible Data for Figure 6: Category of Disclosure on Certain Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Topics of Selected Companies, Generally Covering Data from 2018

ESG topics	Number of companies disclosing company- specific information	Number of companies disclosing generic information	Number of companies not disclosuing
Companyactions to avoid conflicts of interest among board members	32	0	0
Companyactions to incorporate shareholder preferences in board nominations	30	0	2
Companyactions to add new directors to the board	29	0	3
Companyactions to promote diversity and inclusion	27	1	4
How the companymanages risks and opportunities related to energy or water resource management	26	1	5
How the companymanages climate-related risks and opportunities	25	2	5
How the company recruits and retains personnel	24	4	4
Companyactions to protect human rights	22	0	10
How the companymanages occupational health and safetyrisks	21	4	7
How the companyidentifies and addresses data securityrisks	18	13	1
Risks and opportunities the companyhas identified related to energy or water resource management	18	7	7
Climate-related risks and opportunities the companyhas identified	17	10	5
Companyactions to prevent and address discrimination	13	4	15
How the companyuses and protects consumer data	12	11	9
Obstacles that might limit the company's ability to hire the talent it nee ds	7	19	6
Identification of company operations that might endanger human rights	5	1	26

Agency Comment Letter

Accessible Text for Appendix II Comments from the Securities and Exchange Commission

Page 1

June 5, 2020

Michael Clements

Director

Financial Markets and Community Investment

U.S. Government Accountability Office

441 G Street, NW

Washington, DC 20548

Dear Mr. Clements:

Thank you for the opportunity to review the draft report, "Public Companies Disclosure of Environmental, Social, and Governance Factors and Options to Enhance Them." We appreciate your thorough, balanced and well-researched approach to this broad, complex and evolving topic. I believe the report will contribute significantly to the ongoing dialogue among public companies, their investors, and policy makers.

The Commission's approach to these issues is largely rooted in materiality. As you have made clear, our principles-based disclosure regime emphasizes materiality and is focused on requiring public companies to provide information that a reasonable investor would consider important in making informed investment and voting decisions. This approach is time-tested – over 85 years ago, Congress set forth materiality as the foundational principle underlying public company disclosure requirements. This approach has served investors and our capital markets well over the intervening decades as our economy and our markets have evolved and I firmly believe it can be trusted to serve us in the decades to come.

I appreciate your recognition of the ongoing commitment of the Commission and its staff to a range of disclosure matters that can be characterized as environmental, social or governance. I have personally spoken on these issues on a number of occasions.1 As you note, the Commission and SEC staff have been working to clarify the disclosure obligations of public companies as they relate to matters falling into one or more of these categories for over a decade. In 2010 and 2018, the Commission issued guidance explaining how existing disclosure requirements apply to climate-related and cybersecurity matters, respectively. Division staff considers climate-related and cybersecurity issues, among other relevant issues, as part of the Division's selective review program and periodically conducts targeted disclosure reviews of companies for which it believes such a review will be most relevant.

¹ See, e.g., Chairman Jay Clayton, Remarks to the SEC Investor Advisory Committee (Nov. 7, 2019), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/public-statement/clayton-remarks-investor-advisory-committee-110719; Chairman Jay Clayton, Remarks to the SEC Investor Advisory Committee (Dec. 13, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/news/public-statement/clayton-remarks-investor-advisory-committee-meeting-121318.

Page 2

The Commission has also solicited public comment on a number of our disclosure requirements as part of our disclosure effectiveness initiative. These solicitations of comment have had tangible impacts on a number of rulemaking initiatives, including the adoption of final rules relating to pay ratio in 2015 and the recent proposed changes to address disclosures about human capital in 2019. Equally important to these efforts is our ongoing consideration of the actions of other regulatory bodies and standard setters, as well as the recommendations of a range of public interest groups and advisory committees.

I am committed to continuing the ongoing engagement of the Commission and its staff with market participants on disclosure issues generally, including matters that can be characterized as environmental, social or governance matters. Thank you for the consideration your staff has shown during this engagement and for the opportunity to share my views.

Sincerely,

Jay Clayton

Chairman

GAO's Mission

The Government Accountability Office, the audit, evaluation, and investigative arm of Congress, exists to support Congress in meeting its constitutional responsibilities and to help improve the performance and accountability of the federal government for the American people. GAO examines the use of public funds; evaluates federal programs and policies; and provides analyses, recommendations, and other assistance to help Congress make informed oversight, policy, and funding decisions. GAO's commitment to good government is reflected in its core values of accountability, integrity, and reliability.

Obtaining Copies of GAO Reports and Testimony

The fastest and easiest way to obtain copies of GAO documents at no cost is through our website. Each weekday afternoon, GAO posts on its website newly released reports, testimony, and correspondence. You can also subscribe to GAO's email updates to receive notification of newly posted products.

Order by Phone

The price of each GAO publication reflects GAO's actual cost of production and distribution and depends on the number of pages in the publication and whether the publication is printed in color or black and white. Pricing and ordering information is posted on GAO's website, https://www.gao.gov/ordering.htm.

Place orders by calling (202) 512-6000, toll free (866) 801-7077, or TDD (202) 512-2537.

Orders may be paid for using American Express, Discover Card, MasterCard, Visa, check, or money order. Call for additional information.

Connect with GAO

Connect with GAO on Facebook, Flickr, Twitter, and YouTube. Subscribe to our RSS Feeds or Email Updates. Listen to our Podcasts. Visit GAO on the web at https://www.gao.gov.

To Report Fraud, Waste, and Abuse in Federal Programs

Contact FraudNet:

Website: https://www.gao.gov/fraudnet/fraudnet.htm

Automated answering system: (800) 424-5454 or (202) 512-7700

Congressional Relations

Orice Williams Brown, Managing Director, WilliamsO@gao.gov, (202) 512-4400, U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7125, Washington, DC 20548

Public Affairs

Chuck Young, Managing Director, youngc1@gao.gov, (202) 512-4800 U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7149 Washington, DC 20548

Strategic Planning and External Liaison

James-Christian Blockwood, Managing Director, spel@gao.gov, (202) 512-4707 U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7814, Washington, DC 20548

